Public Document Pack

THREE RIVERS Three Rivers House
DISTRICT COUNCIL Rickmansworth

Herts WD3 1RL

LOCAL PLAN SUB-COMMITTEE

NOTICE AND AGENDA

For a meeting to be held on Wednesday, 8 October 2025 at 7.00 pm

Members of the Local Plan Sub-Committee:-

Councillors:

Stephen Giles-Medhurst OBE (Chair) Louise Price (Vice-Chair)
Oliver Cooper Stephen King

Steve Drury Chris Mitchell

Vicky Edwards Sarah Nelmes

Philip Hearn

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive
Tuesday, 30 September 2025

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public on agenda items at
Local Plan Sub-Committee meetings. Details of the procedure are provided below:

Members of the public are entitled to register and identify which item(s) they wish to
speak on from the published agenda for the meeting. Those who wish to register to
speak are asked to register on the night of the meeting from 6.30pm. Please note that
contributions will be limited to one person speaking for and one against each item for not
more than three minutes.

In accordance with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any
matters considered under Part 1 business only of the meeting may be filmed, recorded,
photographed, broadcast or reported via social media by any person.

Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law and it is the
responsibility of those doing the recording and reporting to ensure compliance. This will
include the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection Act and the laws of libel and
defamation.

1. Apologies for Absence
To receive any apologies for absence.
2, Minutes (Pages 3 - 4)

To confirm, as a correct record, the minutes of the Local Plan Sub-
Committee meeting held on 9 September 2025.

Page 1



Notice of Urgent Business

Items of other business notified under Council Procedure Rule 30 to
be announced, together with the special circumstances that justify
their consideration as a matter of urgency. The Chairman to rule on
the admission of such items.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of interest.

Local Plan: Green Belt Review

This report provides an overview of the 2025 Green Belt Review
(Appendix 1) prepared to assist with the formulation of the Local Plan.

Recommendation:

That the Local Plan Sub-Committee agrees to publish the Green Belt
Review on the Council’s evidence base page on the website.

Local Plan: Draft Settlement Appraisal

This report provides an overview of the draft 2025 Settlement Appraisal
(Appendix 1) prepared to assist with the formulation of the Local Plan.
The report and draft Settlement Appraisal are only for noting at this stage
as further work is required to be undertaken.

Recommendation:

That the Local Plan Sub-Committee notes the report and the draft
findings of the Settlement Appraisal document.

Local Plan Timetable Update

Other Business - If approved under item 3 above

Exclusion of Press and Public

(Pages 5 - 62)

(Pages 63 - 92)

(Verbal Report)

If the Sub-Committee wishes to consider the remaining items in private, it will

be appropriate for a resolution to be passed in the following terms:-

“that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on

the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined under Paragraphs 1 to 7 of Schedule 12A to the Act. It has been
decided by the Council that in all the circumstances, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.”

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk

Page 2


mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL e D3 TRL

Local Plan Sub-Committee
MINUTES

Of a meeting held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, Rickmansworth, on
Tuesday, 9 September 2025 from 7.00 - 8.44 pm

Present: Councillors Stephen Giles-Medhurst OBE, Louise Price, Oliver Cooper, Steve Drury,
Vicky Edwards, Philip Hearn, Stephen King, Chris Mitchell and Sarah Nelmes

Also in Attendance:
Councillor Narinder Sian
Officers in Attendance:

Marko Kalik, Head of Planning Policy & Conservation
Emma Lund, Senior Committee Officer

LPSC15/25 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence.
LPSC16/25 MINUTES

The minutes of the Local Plan Sub-Committee meeting held on 7 August 2025 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

LPSC17/25 NOTICE OF URGENT BUSINESS
There was none.

LPSC18/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.

LPSC19/25 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The Chair moved that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it
involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined under Paragraph 3 of Schedule
12A to the Act.

On being put to the vote this was carried, the voting being 5 in favour and 3 against
(Councillor Mitchell arrived after the vote had been taken).

RESOLVED:

That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded
from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act. It

Page 3



has been declared by the Sub-Committee that in all the circumstances, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

LPSC20/25 MEMBER BRIEFING ON GREEN BELT SITES AND HOUSING NUMBERS

The Sub-Committee received a presentation and briefing from the Head of Planning Policy
and Conservation which provided an update on the Green Belt Review and the potential sites
for allocation. There were no proposals for consideration or decision: the Sub-Committee was
invited to note and comment on the update. Questions were asked by Sub-Committee
Members which were responded to by the Head of Planning Policy and Conservation.

The Sub-Committee noted that the final Green Belt Review (which also encompassed Grey
Belt) had been received only very recently. Officers were in the process of assessing and
checking it and clarifying queries with the Council’s independent consultants. Further work
was required to produce the definitive list of sites: the outcome of site assessments, evidence
work, and a definitive list of sites would be brought to a future meeting. The intention was that
the final Green Belt Review report would be made available to all Members, and to members
of the public, for the 8 October meeting.

In concluding the presentation the Chair summarized that the key conclusions of the Green
and Grey Belt Review were that it showed that the Council would fall significantly short of the
new Government housing target figure of 13,312. There was no way in which this target
would be able to be met.

Additionally, it showed areas of large scale development which would fundamentally
undermine the purpose of the Green Belt between south-east of Watford and east of South
Oxhey; the area between Hemel Hempstead and Abbots Langley; and the area between
Rickmansworth and Chorleywood.

Members noted that in addition to the 8 October meeting, at least one further meeting would
be needed to consider the outcomes of additional evidence work such as the transport
assessment. Officers would seek to bring a definitive timeline for the remaining work to reach
Regulation 19 stage to the 8 October meeting.

The Sub-Committee noted the presentation.

CHAIR

Page 4



Three Rivers District Council

Sub-Committee
Report

8 October 2025

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



1.1

1.2

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

LOCAL PLAN SUB COMMITTEE - 8 October 2025

PART |

Green Belt Review 2025
(DoF)

Summary

This report provides an overview of the 2025 Green Belt Review (Appendix 1)
prepared to assist with the formulation of the Local Plan.

The officer recommendation is for Members of the Local Plan Sub-Committee
to agree to publish the Green Belt Review on the Council’s evidence base web

page.
Background

Over three quarters (76%) of the District is designated as Green Belt. The
remainder of the District is made up by the existing urban area consisting of
small and medium sized settlements, with relatively little development potential
within the urban area.

Summary of previous Green Belt Reviews

Stage 1 Green Belt Study

A Stage 1 Green Belt study (August 2017) was undertaken jointly with Watford
which strategically reviewed the Green Belt purposes, looking at 83 strategic
parcels. It also considered the character and role of villages within the Green
Belt to assess the suitability of continued and potential in-setting of villages
within the Green Belt.

The Stage 1 study found the District's Green Belt to be fulfilling its intended
strategic purpose, that is maintaining a sense of openness through its
permanence and application of development restraint. There were only 4 parcels
that had a limited contribution to the overall purpose but many more had more
than one significant contribution, which according to the report creates a
complex picture on the context of growth and removal of Green Belt land at a
strategic level.

Stage 2 Green Belt Study

The Stage 2 Green Belt study (October 2019) considered the effect of releasing
Green Belt land for development purposes. A total of 152 parcels of land were
assessed.

The Stage 2 study involved an assessment of the potential harm to the Green
Belt associated with the release of specific areas of land. The harm assessment
considered the extent to which the release of different areas of land would
reduce contribution to Green Belt purposes, through both the loss of openness
of the released land and the resulting impact that this could have on the strength
of the adjacent Green Belt. Ratings and supporting analysis were provided in
relation to each assessed Green Belt purpose, and considered in combination
to arrive at a single overall harm rating. The harm rating was expressed via a

Page 6



3.5

3.6

3.7

4.2

4.3

4.4

sliding scale comprising of the following categories; very high, high, moderate-
high, moderate, low moderate, low and very low.

In terms of overall harm, there were no parcels found to have very low levels of
harm associated with them, and only 8 parcels or 2% being of low harm. The
largest area of Green Belt by category was moderate high, which made up
31.8% of the total area, with high making up 27% of the total Green Belt area.
The report concludes that there are other factors that should be considered (not
just overall Green Belt harm), such as overall sustainability (as some higher
harm Green Belt may be located in sustainable locations) and consideration of
potential measures to mitigate harm to the Green Belt, as well as potential
opportunities to enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt.

Stage 3 Green Belt Study

The Stage 3 Green Belt study analysed variations in harm to Green Belt
purposes that could result from the creation of a new inset settlement, distinct
from any existing inset areas.

In order to be relatively self-sustaining, a figure of a minimum of 3,000 dwellings
was chosen for a new settlement, with a 100ha minimum search size. Across
the district, seven areas were identified for a potential new settlement. However,
the 100ha releases of land in all the search areas were found to cause high or
very high harm in all cases and therefore the creation of a new settlement was
not considered to be an appropriate growth strategy.

Green Belt Review 2025

Following agreement at Full Council in January that the council would produce
further Green belt evidence, the council received government funding to produce
an updated Green Belt Review as evidence supporting the preparation of the
emerging Local Plan. This is a technical evidence base document produced by
independent consultants. The Green Belt Review is assessed against the latest
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2024) and latest Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG). It should be noted that the primary purpose of this evidence is
to support local plan preparation, however, it may also be used to assist in
decision making.

The NPPF sets out that alterations to Green Belt boundaries should only be
made in exceptional circumstances through the plan making process. It goes on
to state that where authorities cannot meet their identified need for homes,
commercial or other development through other means, then this constitutes the
exceptional circumstances for Green Belt release, and that release should meet
those needs in full. The NPPF, does include a caveat, adding: “unless the review
provides clear evidence that doing so would fundamentally undermine the
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt, when considered across
the area of the plan.”

Before concluding that exceptional circumstances exist to justify changes to
Green Belt boundaries the council is required to demonstrate that it has fully
considered all reasonable options for meeting its development needs. We have
done this by making as much use of suitable brownfield sites and underutilised
land as possible, but only a small proportion of our need can be met on such
land. We have also increased densities on sites.

The NPPF also sets out that where it is necessary to release Green Belt land to
meet development needs there is a sequential approach: “plans should give

Page 7



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.1

412

priority to previously developed land, then consider grey belt which is not
previously developed, and then other Green Belt locations.” In reality to meet
the district’'s development needs we will need to consider all Green Belt locations
as previously developed land and grey belt locations won’t be able to provide
the number of new homes required to meet the standard method target in full.

The key introduction of new policy in the 2024 NPPF is this concept of grey belt,
defined as:

“land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other
land that, in either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b),
or (d) in paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the
policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would
provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development.”

It should be noted that a potential site being identified as falling within an area
of grey belt does not preclude that it is suitable for development and
automatically mean it should come forward as a potential site allocation. It is
only relevant when considering the site in terms of Green Belt and the site would
need to be suitable in other planning terms. The NPPF also clearly caveats that
the site needs to be in a sustainable location.

The 2025 Green Belt Review considered the council’s previous three stages of
Green Belt Reviews summarised earlier in this report. It found that the previous
reviews were still broadly in line with national policy. The fundamental aim
(openness), purposes and permanence of Green Belt remain the same, and
these were key principles underpinning the previous assessments.

The 2025 study concluded that the geographic scope of the Stage 2 and Stage
3 reviews was still considered robust and aligned with new national policy and
guidance in that it sufficiently granular to enable assessment of the variable
contribution of the Green Belt to the purposes as set out in the PPG.

Following the updated PPG clarifying the NPPF’s purposes (a), (b) and (d) do
not relate to villages, the definition of towns in the district plays more of a
prominent role. That said, the wording of the NPPF Green Belt purposes always
related to towns and large built-up areas and the Stage 2 review therefore clearly
defined the towns and large built-up areas in the district.

One of the primary purposes of the 2025 Green Belt Review is mapping out
provisional grey belt. The word provisional has been used to emphasise that
there still other factors to be considered prior to deciding whether land fully
constitutes grey belt.

The map at Figure 6 in the Green Belt Review (2025) identifies provisional grey
belt across the parcels that have been assessed at the settlement edge. Sites
that fall outside the assessed areas would need to be considered on a case by
case basis, though many of these sites would fall in unsustainable locations, and
as such would not be brought forward even if considered provisionally grey belt.

The parcel level identification of grey belt is helpful at a strategic level for plan-
making. However, when considering the identification of grey belt in decision
making or for specific sites for allocation, it is more relevant to assess at a site-
specific level to ensure the assessment outcomes reflect the site itself and is not
skewed by the characteristics of land potentially some distance from the actual
site. This means that development management and policy officers may need
to make their own judgements where applications or potential sites only partially

Page 8



4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

417

6.1

71

overlap with assessed parcels or only make up a smaller proportion of parcels.
It should be noted that at a further level of granularity, assessments of sites’
contribution to the Green Belt may yield differing results to those achieved by
the relevant parcels in the Green Belt Review.

A review of the previous washed over villages assessment undertaken as part
of the Stage 1 Green Belt Review was conducted to consider whether any
changes were necessary in light of the new policy and guidance. It was
concluded that the approach taken is the assessment still aligned with current
policy and guidance and could still be relied upon.

Consideration was also given as to whether there were any changes in
circumstances, including the identification of grey belt that would require
amendments to the conclusions reached in Stage 1 Green belt Review. After
reviewing the physical and policy contexts for the villages, it is recommended
that, in line with the Stage 1 Green belt Review, that Heronsgate and Sarratt
should remain washed over within the Green belt, and that Bedmond be
considered for insetting within the Green Belt with a defined village envelope.
The review also found that Bedmond fell into an area of ‘fundamental
importance’ and that this should be taken into consideration on any decisions
regarding insetting Bedmond. As such, officers are not recommending to remove
Bedmond from the Green Belt.

When considering whether the releasing Green Belt would fundamentally
undermine the purposes of the remaining Green Belt across the plan area, the
review identifies areas of the district where the Green Belt was performing a role
of ‘fundamental importance’. These are areas that perform a strategically
important role against the Green Belt purposes across the plan area. Green Belt
does not necessarily need to perform strongly against all purposes to be
considered fundamentally important to the Green Belt.

Seven broad areas of fundamental importance have been identified where future
growth should be considered carefully, to ensure that it does not fundamentally
undermine the purposes of the Green Belt across the plan area.

Identification of an area of fundamental importance may not, however, mean
that these areas cannot accommodate some development, and it is for the
council to make a balanced judgement based on the scale and location of the
proposed land for release.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the council’s agreed policy and
budgets.

Financial, Legal, Staffing, Equal Opportunities, Environmental,
Community Safety, Public Health, Customer Services Centre,
Communications & Website, Risk Management and Health & Safety
Implications

None specific.
Recommendation

That the Local Plan Sub-Committee agree to publish the Green Belt Review on
the council’s evidence base page on the website.

Background Papers

Page 9



National Planning Policy Framework (2024)
Planning Practice Guidance (2024)

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act
2011)

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Green Belt Review (2025)

Report prepared by: Marko Kalik, Head of Planning Policy & Conservation

Page 10



THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL




This page is intentionally left blank



ARUP

Three Rivers District Council

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

Final Report

Reference:

25 September 2025

© https://www.geograph.org.uk/photo/7070482

This report takes into account the particular instructions and requirements of our client. It is not
intended for and should not be relied upon by any third party and no responsibility is undertaken to
any third party.

Job number 308127-00

Ove Arup & Partners Limited
8 Fitzroy Street

London

WIT 4BJ

United Kingdom

arup.com

Page 13



Contents

1.1
1.2
1.3

2.1
2.2
23
24
2.5

3.1
32
3.3
34

4.1
4.2
43
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7

5.1
52
53
54
5.5

6.1
6.2
6.3

7.1
7.2

Introduction

Study Context

Study Purposes

Report Structure

Policy, guidance and recent appeals

Policy and guidance context

Updated National Planning Policy Framework (2024)
Updated Planning Practice Guidance (2025)
Review of recent appeal decisions
Implications for this study

Local Green Belt context

Three Rivers Green Belt

Stage 1 GBR (2017)

Stage 2 GBA (2019)

Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis (2020)
Review of previous studies

National policy consistency

Geographic scope

Green Belt purposes

Definition of large built-up areas and towns
Grey belt identification

Fundamentally undermine assessment
Implications for this study

Identification of new assessment areas
Scope of task

Evaluation of extent of previous assessments
Evaluation of sites

Evaluation of railway stations and motorway junctions
Summary

Provisional grey belt identification

Scope of task

Grey belt scores and findings

Next steps

Washed over villages commentary

Scope of task

Outcome of Stage 1 assessment

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e 14

O 3 B W W W N ==

| N T S N S S S S S R S S S S S I I e e e e e e e e
(O Y R N S S S L e B e i e BEEN e e N e N N S e = R )



7.3 Implications of policy and guidance
7.4 Village commentary

8. Fundamentally important areas

8.1 Scope of task

8.2 Analysis

8.3 Next steps on Fundamentally Undermine
9. Conclusions and recommendations
9.1 Green Belt Review

9.2 Grey belt
9.3 Washed over villages

9.4 Fundamentally important areas

Tables

Table 1 Comparison of PPG’s illustrative features to approach taken in the Stage 2 GBA 2019 study
Table 2 Defined large built-up areas and towns in Stage 1 and Stage 2 GBR

Table 3 Classification of GBR settlements by ONS built-up area size statistics

Table 4 Three Rivers Settlement Hierarchy

Table 5 Purpose scores

Table 6 Summary of grey belt land of green belt assessed in Three Rivers

Table 7 Stage 1 GBR parcel assessments

Figures

Figure 1 When can land be identified as grey belt?

Figure 2 Stage 1 GBR Definitions of Key Terms

Figure 3 Stage 1 GBR Assessment Criteria

Figure 4 Stage 1 GBA washed over village assessment criteria

Figure 5 ONS built-up area size classification

Figure 6 Provisional grey belt identified in assessed Green Belt parcels

Figure 7 When is development in the Green Belt not inappropriate under paragraph 155 of the NPPF?
Figure 8 Outcome of Stage 1 GBR washed over villages assessment

Figure 9 Outcome of Stage 2 GBR parcel assessment for the parcels at/around Bedmond

Figure 10 Mapped Stage 2 GBR parcel assessment for the parcels at/around Bedmond

Figure 11 Broad Areas of Fundamental Importance

Appendices

Appendices
A.l Review of recent appeals

A2 TRDC Stage 2 Parcels: Assessment Data Table

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e 15

26
26
31
31
31
33
35
35
35
35
36

17
18
19
19
22
22
28

11
11
12
18
23
24
25
29
29
32

37
37

43



1. Introduction

1.1 Study Context

Three Rivers District Council (TRDC) began reviewing its Local Plan in 2017. The new Local Plan will
provide a policy framework for planning and development across the district establishing an up-to-date
development strategy and strategic policies, new land allocations and updated development management
policies. The new Local Plan will replace the Core Strategy (2011), Development Management Policies
Local Development Document (2013) and Site Allocations Local Development Document (2014).

The Council is preparing an evidence base to inform the review of its Local Plan. The previously completed
Green Belt Review! (GBR) studies in the district are:

e Green Belt Review — Strategic Analysis for TRDC and Watford Borough Council (2017),
referenced as the Stage 1 GBR in this report.

e Stage 2 Green Belt Assessment for TRDC and Watford Borough Council (2019), referenced as the
Stage 2 GBR in this report.

e Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis for TRDC (2020), referenced as the Stage 3 GBR in this report.

Since the completion of previous GBRs covering Three Rivers, there have been multiple changes to national
Green Belt planning policy and guidance, including the introduction of grey belt.

The changes to national policy and guidance reflect the priority of the new Government to boost housing
delivery and achieve its ambition to deliver 1.5 million homes within this parliament. There has been a
significant increase in the council’s local housing need over the Local Plan period to 2041 following the
introduction of the new standard methodology in December 2024 and an update in March 2025. Three
Rivers’ current housing need, using the standard methodology, is 832 homes per year. However, the Council
is tightly constrained by Green Belt and has limited urban capacity. In planning positively for growth, TRDC
needs to consider what role Green Belt land will play in any future spatial strategy.

Linked to this, the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) now explicitly requires local
planning authorities to review Green Belt boundaries to accommodate housing need (alongside other
development needs) where such needs cannot be met through other sources of land supply. Where Green
Belt land is required to meet development needs, national policy now clarifies that plans should give priority
to previously developed land, then consider grey belt which is not previously developed, and then other
Green Belt locations, ensuring that such areas for development comprise sustainable locations.

In December 2024, alongside the revised NPPF, the Government also confirmed amended transitional
arrangements for councils seeking to produce local plans under the current plan-making system. Authorities
now have till December 2026 to submit their plans for Independent Examination. The latest Local
Development Scheme for Three Rivers states the Council intends to submit its local plan for Independent
Examination by September/October 2026. Given the tight timescales the council is working towards and that
changes in national planning policy require the Council to re-consider spatial options to accommodate the
increased development needs in full, there is a pressing need to review and update, where necessary, the
existing Green Belt evidence to inform this process. This study will help provide the evidence to enable the
Council to make robust decisions.

1.2 Study Purposes

Arup has been appointed by TRDC to update its Green Belt evidence in light of the updated national policy
and guidance. A primary component of this review is the assessment of the previous GBRs against the new
policy and guidance to assess whether they are aligned and can continue to be relied upon going forward, or
whether parcels require re-assessment. As part of the review, consideration is also given to best practice as

!'It should be noted, that a GBR can also be referred to as a Green Belt Assessment (GBA) with these terms often being used interchangeable. For this
study, the term GBR will be used, but it should be noted that the previous Stage 2 Study used GBA.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:lji 6p0rt Page 1



documented in recent appeal decisions. The study also considers the spatial extent of the previous GBRS and
whether the approach taken is proportionate.

In addition to the above, the study also incorporates the following elements:

1.3

Grey belt identification following the key steps set out in the Green Belt Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG).

Review of the previous washed over villages assessment to consider whether any changes to the
recommendations are necessary in light of new policy and guidance.

Analysis to support any future assessment by the Council of whether release of Green Belt would
fundamentally undermine the function of the remaining Green Belt, as required by the latest policy and
guidance.

Report Structure

The report, known as the Stage 4 GBR, is structured as follows:

Section 2 sets out a review of the recent changes to national planning policy and guidance, as well
emerging conclusions from recent appeals. It concludes with the implications for this study. The full
appeal reviews can be found in Appendix A.

Section 3 provides the local Green Belt context and a summary of the approaches and key findings from
the preceding GBRs.

Section 4 provides a review of the previous GBRs to establish whether they are still fit for purpose
against the updated national policy and guidance, and in light of emerging experience elsewhere.

Section 5 considers the geographical extent of the previous GBRs and whether there is a case for
carrying out further assessment for new areas.

Section 6 provisionally identifies grey belt.
Section 7 provides commentary on the previous washed over village assessment.
Section 8 provides analysis to support any future fundamentally undermine test.

Section 9 presents the conclusions and recommendations from this Stage 4 GBR.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel R]pz Page 2



2. Policy, guidance and recent appeals

2.1 Policy and guidance context

The purpose of a GBR is to provide evidence of how different areas of Green Belt perform against the Green
Belt purposes, as set out in the NPPF. Local planning authorities may then take the findings of the
assessment into account alongside other evidence in making decisions about their Local Plan Strategy, site
allocations / broad locations and ultimately possible alterations to Green Belt boundaries.

The previous GBRs set out the relevant national policy and guidance framework for undertaking such
reviews, as well as good practice identified elsewhere. The Stage 1, 2 and 3 GBRs were respectively
undertaken under the auspices of the 2012, 2018 and 2019 versions of the NPPF.

Since the previous GBRs were undertaken, the NPPF has been updated multiple times with the latest update
being published in December 2024. To provide a robust and consistent approach to Green Belt review
following the changes in policy, MHCLG also published updated Green Belt PPG in February 2025.

The section below therefore highlights the changes to national Green Belt policy and guidance since the
preceding studies were carried out; and presents analysis of how Inspectors have been interpreting the new
policy and guidance in recent planning applications. Before considering the implications for this study.

2.2 Updated National Planning Policy Framework (2024)

Although there have been some key changes in relation to Green Belt policy since the NPPF was first
published in 2012, the majority of the policies in relation to Green Belt and plan-making have been retained
and remain unchanged. These include:

e The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy to “prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open”
(NPPF 2024, para 142).

e The five main purposes of Green Belt (NPPF 2024, para 143):
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.
o The intended permanence of the Green Belt (NPPF 2024, paras 144, 145).
e Alterations to Green Belt only to be undertaken in exceptional circumstances (NPPF 2024, para 145)
e The need to take into account sustainable patterns of development (NPPF 2024, para 148)
e Boundary definition requirements (NPPF 2024, para 149)

o Considerations as to whether villages should be included or excluded from the Green Belt (NPPF 2024,
para 150).

e Need for positive planning in the use of Green Belt land (NPPF 2024, para 151).

That being said, the most recently updated Green Belt policy includes a number of significant changes for
plan-making relating to exceptional circumstances, grey belt and sequential release of Green Belt land.

2.2.1 Exceptional circumstances

The 2024 NPPF now requires authorities that cannot meet their identified need for homes, commercial or
other development through other means to review their Green Belt boundaries: “If that is the case,
authorities should review Green Belt boundaries in accordance with the policies in this Framework and

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:lji 8p0rt Page 3



propose alternations to meet these needs in full. ” The review of Green Belt boundaries for this reason now
constitutes grounds for Exceptional Circumstances to release Green Belt land (NPPF 2024, paragraph 146).

The new requirement to consider Green Belt land to meet housing and other requirements is mitigated at a
high-level by an additional test introduced in paragraph 146, and which the Council will have to demonstrate
in its Exceptional Circumstances case. The test stipulates that Green Belt boundaries should not be altered
where that would “fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt,
when considered across the area of the plan” (NPPF 2024, paragraph 146).

2.2.2 Grey belt
The NPPF 2024 introduced a sub-category of Green Belt land called grey belt. Grey belt is defined as:

“land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either
case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’
excludes land where the application of the policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other
than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development” (NPPF
2024, glossary).

Footnote 7 identifies constraints that may preclude land from being considered as grey belt. The PPG
provides further guidance on how footnote 7 should be applied when identifying land as grey belt, including
that authorities should consider where areas of grey belt would be covered by or affect designations in
footnote 7.

223 Sequential release of Green Belt land

NPPF 2024 paragraph 148 introduces a sequential approach to the release of Green Belt land: “Where it is
necessary to release Green Belt land for development, plans should give priority to previously developed
land, then consider grey belt which is not previously developed, and then other Green Belt locations.” When
applying this approach and the release of Green Belt is proposed, consideration still needs to be given to
promoting sustainable patterns of development, in particular whether “the site’s location is appropriate with
particular reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework” (NPPF 2024, paragraph 148).
Paragraphs 110 and 115 focus on sustainable development locations and sustainable transport solutions.

2.3 Updated Planning Practice Guidance (2025)

In February 2025, the government updated the Green Belt PPG to take into account the changes made to the
NPPF in December 2024. The PPG now provides guidance for plan-making on:

e how to assess Green Belt to identify grey belt within it, in particular how to assess land against the
NPPF Green Belt purposes (a), (b) and (d);

e how to consider the impact of development, or of release of land on the remaining Green Belt in the
plan area;

e when a proposal on grey belt land may not constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt;
and

e how to identify sustainable locations when considering release of Green Belt land.

The PPG also provides guidance on how to consider proposals on potential grey belt land for the purpose of
decision-making. This summary focuses on the plan-making guidance.

2.3.1 Grey belt

The guidance makes it clear that the identification of grey belt land does not necessarily mean that the land
should be allocated for development or released from the Green Belt. The contribution of the land to the
Green Belt purposes needs to be considered alongside wider NPPF policies in making any decisions about
Green Belt land.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel R]pg Page 4



GBR, and the identification of grey belt, should be part of the plan-making process, with the expectation that
the identification of grey belt land will allow for the prioritisation of land detailed in paragraphs 147 and 148
of the NPPF2.

232 Assessing Green Belt to identify grey belt land

Local authorities should produce a GBR in order to identify grey belt land. When updating or preparing
plans, authorities will need to consider whether any existing Green Belt assessment remains up to date>.

2.3.3 Key steps to identify grey belt land
The key steps used to identify grey belt are*:

e Identify the location and appropriate scale of area to be assessed.
o Evaluate contribution to purposes (a), (b) and (d).

e Consider if any of footnote 7 restrictions apply.

e Identify grey belt.

o Consider whether the release of Green Belt will fundamentally undermine the five Green Belt purposes
taken together across the plan area.

2.3.4 GBR spatial scope®

The PPG stipulates that the Green Belt should be divided into assessment areas for the purpose of identifying
grey belt. The number and size of assessment areas should respond to local circumstances. The whole Green
Belt should be considered in the first instance.

Assessment areas should be sufficiently granular to enable assessment of the variable contribution of the
Green Belt to the purposes. A small number of large assessment areas will not be appropriate in most
circumstances and to better identify grey belt, assessment areas should be further sub-divided. Finer grained
assessment may be appropriate in specific locations, such as around existing settlements or public transport
hubs or corridors.

2.3.5 Purpose assessment

The PPG provides explicit guidance on how to conduct a GBR to identify grey belt in relation to purposes
(a), (b) and (d)®. It is silent on purposes ¢ and e as they are not included within the grey belt definition.

Large built-up areas, towns and villages

The definition of towns, and large built-up areas for the purpose of assessing purposes (a), (b) and (d) has
been clarified. Villages should not be included for the purpose of assessing these purposes.

2 Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 64-001-20250225
3 Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 64-002-20250225
4 Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 64-003-20250225
5 Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 64-004-20250225

¢ Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 64-005-20250225

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag eﬁé onrt Page 5



To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas (purpose a)

The PPG sets out illustrative factors that should be considered when assessing performance against purpose
a:

e Adjacency to large built-up area(s).

e Extent of existing development in assessment area and impact of other urbanising influences.

e Presence, or otherwise, of physical feature(s) in reasonable proximity that could restrict and contain
development.

e Shape of development if released, with degree of enclosure and incongruous patterns of development
considered.

To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another (purpose b)
The PPG sets out illustrative factors that should be considered when assessing performance against purpose
b:

e [ocation of assessment area in relation to defined towns.

Extent of existing development in assessment area.

Scale to which the assessment area forms part of the gap between towns.

Degree to which the development of the assessment area would result in loss of visual separation of
towns, including whether there are any physical or natural features that might preserve visual separation.

To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns (purpose d)
The PPG notes that if there are no historic towns, a detailed assessment may not be necessary. It sets out
illustrative factors that should be considered when assessing performance against purpose d:

e Extent of existing development in assessment area.
e Role that the assessment area plays in the setting of the historic town.

e Contribution that the assessment area makes to the special character of the historic town. This should
consider physical, visual and experiential links between the assessment area and the historic aspects of
the town.

e Degree of separation of assessment area from the historic aspects of the town by existing development or
topography.

2.3.6 Application of footnote 7

The grey belt definition excludes land where the constraints identified in NPPF footnote 7 would provide a
strong reason for refusing or restricting development. Designations listed as effective constraints in footnote
7 include: habitat sites, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); Local Green Space, National Landscapes,
National Parks or Heritage Coasts; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets; and areas that are at risk
of flooding or coastal change.

The PPG makes it clear that authorities need to consider not only areas where grey belt would be covered by
these designations but also whether it would affect these definitions. Where these constraints are present
within a local authority area, it is likely to only be possible to provisionally identify such land as grey belt in
advance of more detailed specified proposals and impact assessment’.

7 Paragraph: 006 Reference ID: 64-006-20250225

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l Fl?p(l Page 6



2.3.7 Assessing whether land is grey belt

Green Belt land judged not to strongly contribute to any one of the purposes (a), (b) and (d) can be
provisionally identified as grey belt, subject to the footnote 7 exclusions (Figure 1).

Figure 1 When can land be identified as grey belt?

Land does not
strongly contribute

to Green Belt
Purposes a), b}, or d)

Can be
identified
as grey
. belt

the policies in
footnote 7 of the
NPPF(other than
Green Belt) do not
provide a strong
reason for refusing
development

Source: MHCLG (2025) https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt, Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 64-007-20250225

2.3.8 Assessing the impact of Green Belt release on the remaining Green Belt in the plan area

The PPG provides guidance of the application of the new NPPF test which of: “whether the release of Green
Belt land would fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across
the plan area as a whole.” (NPPF 2024, paragraph 146). The PPG explains that “In reaching this
Jjudgement, authorities should consider whether, or the extent to which, the release or development of Green
Belt Land would affect the ability of all the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan from serving all
five of the Green Belt purposes in a meaningful way. "

2.39 Identifying sustainable locations

The PPG highlights that when reviewing Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote sustainable patterns of
development should determine whether a location is appropriate for development. Where grey belt land is
not in a location that is or can be made sustainable, then development of that land is inappropriate. The PPG
claborates that the definition of sustainable locations should be determined for the local context, taking into
account opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions in line with NPPF paragraphs 110 and
115°.

24 Review of recent appeal decisions

As the NPPF (2024) and Green Belt PPG (2025) have only relatively recently been published, they have yet
to be tested at any Local Plan examinations. Therefore, it is helpful to look at recent planning appeals to see
how they are being interpreted with respect to decision making to identify any relevant lessons learnt that can
be applied to plan-making.

Before looking at recent appeals, it is helpful to reflect on more historic appeals, which have established
some key points in relation to openness that are still considered relevant for GBA.

8 Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 64-008-20250225

® Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 64-011-20250225

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited P ag eﬁé 2p0rt Page 7


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt

Openness is generally considered to be ‘land free from built development’, which should be assessed on
an individual area basis as well as in terms of the cumulative impact on adjacent areas.'°

Openness should be considered not only in terms of a ‘volumetric approach’ (i.e. physical coverage of
built form) but also in terms of ‘visual elements’ (for example, visual linkages between settlements in
relation to purpose b, or functional character and linkages to the wider Green Belt in relation to purpose

(©)."

While visual impact may in the context of a particular case be judged a relevant factor by a decision

maker in assessing openness of the Green Belt it, in itself, is not a mandatory determinative factor of
12

openness.

Following a review of around 50 planning appeals that have been determined since the publication of the
NPPF / PPG and which featured Green Belt as a main issue, a number of key lessons have been identified:

A site may be grey belt but if it is not in a sustainable location, its development would be inappropriate in
the Green Belt.

‘Sustainable location’ can be defined in relation to distance from facilities and services, and access to
public transport options rather than reliance on private vehicles.

The definition of ‘large built-up-areas’ and ‘towns’ within purposes assessments is significant and should
align with how these places are defined within the development plan. There must be no ambiguity as to
whether places are villages or towns. The definition of settlements in a settlement hierarchy has
significant weight when determining what constitutes a town for Green Belt purposes. However, the
primary factors influencing whether a settlement is a village or a town (and those that should be
considered in the settlement hierarchy) are the extent of its services and facilities and the scale of the
settlement.

The footnote 7 designation does not automatically mean that a site fails the grey belt test; there needs to
be a strong reason for refusal

Looking at parcels within a GBR is helpful at a strategic level for plan-making. However, when
considering the identification of grey belt in decision making, it is more relevant to assess at a site-
specific level to ensure the assessment outcomes reflect the site itself and is not skewed by the
characteristics of land potentially some distance from the actual site.

Purpose (a) is concerned with sprawl in relation to large built-up-areas only. The fact that a development
would create ribbon development is not relevant to the assessment of purpose (a).

The proportional loss of Green Belt should be considered in relation to the totality of the Green Belt
within a local authority. If the proportional loss is deemed small, it would not fundamentally undermine
the Green Belt purposes, taken together.

A parcel (or site) needs to have a wider strategic role within the functioning of the Green Belt; otherwise
it would not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across
the development plan area. .

Appendix 1 sets out in greater detail the most significant and salient decisions from the reviewed appeals.

19 The Planning Inspectorate (2017) Report to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 Guildford Borough Council Appeal by Berkley Homes (Southern) Ltd and the Howard
Partnership Trust, APP/ Y3615/W/16/3151098

"1 See: Turner v Secretary of State CLG and East Dorset Council (2016) EWHC 2728 (Admin).

12 Further information available here: https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2018-0077.html

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel Fl?pg Page 8


https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2018-0077.html

2.5

Three

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:i

Implications for this study

National policy consistency: Much of national Green Belt policy remains unchanged, therefore broad
approaches within the GBR studies are likely to remain valid. Green Belt policy has remained consistent
in relation to fundamental aim, purposes, permanence, requirement to demonstrate exceptional
circumstances before making changes, sustainable patterns of development, washed over village
definition and positive planning within the Green Belt. Rather, the focus of the review of existing Green
Belt evidence should be on the detailed points of difference in national policy in relation to grey belt,
exceptional circumstances and sequential release of Green Belt land, insofar as they are relevant to the
scope of a GBR.

Geographic scope: As well as review of the performance of the whole of the Green Belt within the
Three Rivers District; there needs to be subsequent assessment at a sufficiently granular scale to enable
the assessment of variable contribution to the Green Belt purposes, to inform the identification of grey
belt. This should be considered within the review of the existing studies.

Purposes: Given the need to identify whether Green Belt release will fundamentally undermine the
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt when considered across the area of the plan as
part of the development of the exceptional circumstances case, it is necessary for the assessment of
performance to cover all of the purposes (a-e). This should be considered within the review of the
existing studies.

Interpretation of purposes (a), (b) and (d): The existing studies need to be reviewed to establish
whether appropriate criteria have been adopted for purposes (a), (b) and (d), reflecting the illustrative
factors identified in the PPG.

Definition of large built-up-areas and towns: The existing studies need to be reviewed to check
whether the definitions of large built-up areas, neighbouring towns and historic towns used for the
assessment of purposes (a), (b) and (d) respectively, are aligned with the new guidance, and in particular
are not villages. There should be no ambiguity in the definition, and it should align with the definitions
adopted within the development plan. The adopted definitions should align with the settlement hierarchy
for the District.

Grey belt identification: Grey belt needs to be provisionally identified within the GBR as part of plan-
making following the process set out in the PPG. However, not all grey belt will necessarily be allocated
for development or released from the Green Belt. It will be for the Council to decide the extent to which
this takes place in considering the balance of planning factors as part of the wider plan-making process.

Provisional grey belt identification: When identifying grey belt, the area of search should be focused
on sustainable locations in line with NPPF para 155c. Within sustainable locations, the identification of
grey belt will be based on the performance scores for NPPF purposes (a), (b) and (d). A GBR can only
provisionally identify grey belt due to the need for further assessment at a later stage of the plan-making
process to identify any effects on footnote 7 designations. This will confirm grey belt status or otherwise.

Sequential release of Green Belt: Following the provisional identification of grey belt, if a Previously
Developed Land (PDL) dataset is available, or this status is established through site selection
assessments, it is possible to categorise grey belt into PDL and non-PDL grey belt (which will assist in
the application of NPPF paragraph 148, if necessary). However, if a pre-existing data set is not available,
then this needs to be considered as part of the Council’s wider work on site selection.

Exceptional circumstances: A review of Green Belt boundaries is a mandatory component of plan-
making preparation if development need cannot be met on non-Green Belt land. Further meeting
development need has been identified as explicit grounds for Exceptional Circumstance to release Green
Belt land. A new ‘fundamentally undermine’ test has been introduced, which will need to be set out as
part of any Exceptional Circumstance case. Although the development of such a case lies outside the
scope of this study, the outputs of this study should be used to inform it. When considering the
‘fundamentally undermine’ test, considering the proportional loss of total Green Belt within the District
and whether the Green Belt land has a wider strategic role within the functioning of the Green Belt. can
also be helpful. Green Belt does not necessarily need to perform strongly against al/ purposes to be
considered fundamentally important to the Green Belt.

Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
ééport Page 9



3. Local Green Belt context

This section provides the local Green Belt context. It also sets out the preceding Green Belt work including a
summary of the approach to the Stage 1 GBR, Stage 2 GBA and Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis.

3.1 Three Rivers Green Belt

The Three Rivers Green Belt is part of the Metropolitan Green Belt with the Green Belt covering almost
80% of the District. The areas not covered by Green Belt designation are predominantly the built-up urban
settlements (e.g. towns or large villages) but there are also smaller washed over villages.

The character of the Green Belt varies across the district and reflects an area of transition from a more
fragmented pattern on urban fringe land around the London Boroughs to wider open countryside.

3.2 Stage 1 GBR (2017)

3.2.1 Study purpose

A Stage 1 Green Belt Review!? was prepared on behalf of TRDC and Watford Borough Council (WBC and
published in August 2017. The main purposes of the study were:

e A strategic review of the Green Belt and the extent to which the Green Belt meets and contributes to
the five purposes set out in the NPPF.

e Explore the character and role of villages washed over by the Green Belt and whether any warranted
being removed from the Green Belt, i.e. in-setting.
322 Approach
The study assessed the entire extent of the Green Belt within TRDC and WBC boundaries.

The Green Belt was divided into 83 parcels (‘strategic land parcels’) which were defined using well-defined
physical features, principally using the road network. The strategic land parcels were then assessed against
criteria for each of the five Green Belt purposes as set out in the 2012 NPPF. The study also considered a
local Green Belt purpose ‘preserving the setting and character of villages and other settlements’, however
this did not feed into the overall contribution assessment, which as restricted to the five national Green Belt
purposes.

The parcels were rated as making a Limited Contribution, Contribution or Significant Contribution to each of
the purposes before this being combined in an overall assessment reflecting professional judgement (with
there being no weighting applied). Within the assessments five key elements were considered:

e Existing land use;

e Proximity and relation to the built-up area;

e Degree of enclosure/ openness;

e Distance and visual connection to historic urban centres/ key urban areas; and
e Relationship to the countryside.

In addition to assessing the performance of the Green Belt as a whole, the review also considered the case for
in-setting settlements within the Green Belt in the Three Rivers District.

13 Amec Foster Wheeler (2017) Green Belt Review Strategic Analysis

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l Fl?p5 Page 10



323

Green Belt purposes definitions and assessment criteria

The study set out definitions for key terms within the five Green Belt purposes (Figure 2) and established
criteria that were used to assess the contribution that parcels made to the Green Belt purposes (Figure 3).

Figure 2 Stage 1 GBR Definitions of Key Terms

Green Belt Purpose

Definition of Terms applied in the Review

To check the
unrestricted sprawl of
large built-up areas

Sprawl —spread out over a large area in an untidy or imegular way (Oxford Dictionary online). This
includes Ribbon development which is development along a main road, especially one leading out
of a town or village (Oxford Dictionary Online). This includes historical patterns of, or current
pressures for, the spread of all forms of development along movement corridors, particularly major
roads.

Large built-up areas — in the context of this study these are Rickmansworth, Chorleywood,
Morthwood (part), Croxley Green and Watford within the study authorities, but also Hemel
Hempstead, Bushey and Northwood/Pinner.

To prevent neighbouring
towns from merging

Neighbouring towns — this relates to the sirategic relationship between Watford and Hemel
Hempsiead, Watford and St Albans; Watford and Rickmansworth; Rickmansworth and Northwood,;
Watford and Morthwood; Watford and Pinner; Watford and Bushey; and W atiord and Radlett.

Merger/Coalescence —the physical orvisual linking of two setilements or areas of built form

To assist in Encroachment- a gradual advance beyond usual or acceptable limits (Oxford Dictionary onling).
22‘5&'#5?‘;29";?;1 The countryside — open land with an ab of built dev t and urb ing infl . and
encroachment characterised by rural land uses including agriculture and forestry.
Openness — absence of built development or other urbanising elements (i.e. not openness in a
landscape character sense which concemns topography and woodland / hedgerow cover).
To preserve the setting Historic town — interpreted to be a settlement or place with historic features identified in local policy

and special character of
historic towns

or through Conservation Area designation. Note, there are no historic towns within, or adjacent to,
the study area. This purpose is therefore applied in a local context using Conservation Area
designation as the reference point.

To assist in urban
regeneration by
encouraging the
recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

Where development in the open countryside is likely to render previously developed land a particular
vicinity less attractive to develop.

Source: Amec Wheeler Foster (2017) Green Belt Review — Strategic Analysis
Figure 3 Stage 1 GBR Assessment Criteria

Topic

Criteria

NPPF Purposes of the Green Belt

large buit up areas

To check the unrestricted spraw! of

Prevent the sprawl of a built-up area into open land where development would not
otherwise be restricted by a permanent boundary.

Whatis the role of the parcel in preventing the extension of an existing development into open
land beyond established limits, in light of the presence of significant boundaries?

merging into one another

To prevent neighbouring towns from

Prevent development which would result in the merger or erosion of a gap (physically or
visually) between settlements.

What is the role of the parcel in preventing the merger of settlements which might occur through
a reduction in the distance between them?

To assist in safeguarding the
counfryside from encroachment

Protect the openness of the countryside and its perceived rurality.

What is the role of the parcel in maintaining a sense of openness, particularly in light of proximity
to a settlement edge?

character of historic towns

To preserve the setting and special

Preserve the setting and character of historic town.

‘Whatis the role of the parcel in respect of the proximity to, and degree of intervisibility with, the
core (such as a Conservation Area) of an historic town or setilement?

To assist in urban regeneration by

and other urban land

encouraging the recycling of derelict

Does the parcel act in concert with adjacent parcels to encourage urban regeneration, either
generally or more specifically?

to Green Belt Purposes

Overall Assessment of Contribution

In light of the assessment of individual purposes, what is the overall contribution of the parcel to
the Green Belt both individually and in a wider context?

Local Role of the Green Belt

of villages and other settlements

Preserving the setting and character

‘Whatis the relationship between a village or hamlet and the surrounding Green Belt?

Use of the Green Belt

Opportunities to Promote Positive

Cument public access and
opportunities to provide access/
recreation

What is the degree of existing public access and/or provision of recreational facilities?

Enhancing landscapes and visual
amenity

Does the parcel form part of the sefting of a sensitive landscape (historic or otherwise)?

Enhancing biodiversity

Are there any national or local biodiversity designations within the parcel?

Improving derelict and damaged
land

Is there any derelict land in the parcel?

Source: Amec Wheeler Foster (2017) Green Belt Review — Strategic Analysis

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

St§ 4 Green Belt Review

Paged6o

Page 11



3.2.4 Washed over village assessment — approach

The case for in-setting of settlements within the TRDC Green Belt was considered, with the villages of
Heronsgate, Sarratt and Bedmond being assessed. The settlements were reviewed in the context of NPPF
2012 paragraphs 84, 86 and 89(5) relating to sustainable patterns of development, washed over villages and
limited infilling respectively (now NPPF 2024 paragraphs 148, 150 and 154 (e)).

The settlements were reviewed against the following criteria (Figure 4).

Figure 4 Stage 1 GBA washed over village assessment criteria

» General character — location and overall setting, topography, settlement form, building
type/age, overall sensitivity, sense of identity/unity/cohesion, key focal points, Conservation
Areals).

» Density and layout of buildings — degree of spaciousness/enclosure, opportunities for infill.
» Presence and character of open space — location and relationship with settlement.

* Interface with the surrounding landscape — settlement depth, rear garden character,
glimpsed/panaramic views to the wider landscape, connectivity with landscape context.

Source: Amec Wheeler Foster (2017) Green Belt Review — Strategic Analysis

3.3 Stage 2 GBA (2019)

3.3.1 Study purpose

A Stage 2 Green Belt Assessment!* was prepared on behalf of TRDC and WBC and was published in
October 2019. The main purpose of the study was to consider the extent to which the release of different
areas of land would reduce contribution to the Green Belt purposes, through both the loss of openness of the
released land and the resulting impact that this could have on the strength of the adjacent Green Belt. The
study did not assess the cumulative impact of the release of multiple parcels on the Green Belt as a whole, as
this was outside the scope the study due the various permutations that could be considered.

332 Approach
The study assessed all of the land adjacent to the urban edges of inset settlements within and bordering Three
Rivers and Watford and the village of Bedmond.

To determine the extent of the assessment area and subdivision of parcels, analysis was undertaken by
extending outwards from inset edges to capture the variations in contribution to the Green Belt purpose.
When a boundary feature was reached beyond which release of land was considered to increase in harm
level, a new parcel was established. At the point it was judged release of land would result in high or very
high harm, no further parcel subdivision was undertaken. The study utilised the parcels identified in the
Stage 1 study, with these being divided as necessary into Stage 2 parcels that reflected assessed variations in
harm to the Green Belt purposes.

Land in neighbouring districts and boroughs was considered in the assessment where it was necessary to
determine, as part of the harm assessment process, the potential impact that could result from release of
adjacent land within Three Rivers or Watford.

The identified parcels for consideration in Stage 2 were overlaid with a set of major policy constraints (i.e.
Scheduled Monuments; Registered Parks and Gardens; Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Nature
Reserves; Ancient Woodland; Common land; and Flood Zone 3b.). Land subject to these constraints was
excluded from assessment, resulting in 144 parcels for assessment within Three Rivers.

4 LUC (2019) Stage 2 Green Belt Assessment for Three Rivers District and Watford Borough Final Report

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l Faz Page 12



Once the assessment parcels were established, the study assessment followed three key steps:
e Step 1: Considered the impact on the contribution to the NPPF purposes.

e Step 2: Assessed the potential impact of release on the integrity of the remaining Green Belt,
including consideration of the strength of residual Green Belt boundaries.

e Step 3: Assessed the overall Green Belt harm and any variations of harm within the assessment zone.

The local Green Belt purpose ‘preserving the setting and character of villages and other settlements’
previously used in the Stage 1 GBR was not brought for this assessment, on the basis that no weight can be
attributed to this purpose.

The overall assessment of harm to the Green Belt was rated using a seven-point scale ranging from very high
to very low harm.

333 Green Belt purpose definitions and assessment criteria

In assessing all of the Green Belt purposes consideration was given to ‘openness’ of the land given its role as
an essential characteristic of Green Belt. This was considered from spatial and visual perspectives. The other
essential characteristic of Green Belt ‘permanence’ was also considered in relation to benefits of retaining or
establishing clearly defined, readily recognisable and likely to be permanent boundaries.

Purpose (a) To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas

The Stage 2 GBR explored different definitions of sprawl, and set out that irrespective of the definition, the
intent is that planned development cannot contravene this purpose. Further that given that the form of future
development is unknown, the key issue in terms of the role that the land will play in contributing to this
purpose is its relationship with the large built-up area.

In terms of defining the large built-up areas, the Stage 2 GBR remained consistent with the Stage 1 GBR —
identifying Rickmansworth, Chorleywood, Northwood, Croxley Green, Watford, Hemel Hempstead and
Bushey. However, it also expanded the list of areas considered, noting ‘some settlements such as Loudwater,
South Oxhey etc.. that are close enough to more contiguous urban development within the settlements
outlined above to constitute part of the large built-up area extending out from Greater London.

The assessment explored:

o Extent and nature of existing development, with built structures having an impact on openness or an
urbanising influence. This excluded development classed as appropriate or not inappropriate
development in the Green Belt;

e Extent of urban containment; and

e Relationship with existing large built-up areas, to contribute the land must lie adjacent to or in close
proximity to a large built-up area and retain a degree of openness.

Purpose (b) To prevent neighbouring towns from merging

The Stage 2 GBR explored the concept of towns, acknowledging that what constitutes a town is widely
interpreted in GBRs. It further noted that regardless of whether a town is large enough to be considered a
town, smaller settlements that lie between larger ones can have an impact on the separation between larger
towns.

In considering the assessment of ‘merging’, the study acknowledged that the role that land plays in
preventing merging is more than the product of the size of the gap between them, and that assessment needs
to consider both the physical and visual roles that land plays preventing the merging of settlements.

In the Stage 1 GBR, the neighbouring towns identified were Rickmansworth, Watford, Hemel Hempstead, St
Albans, Northwood, Pinner, Bushey and Radlett. The Stage 2 GBR, at paragraph 3.57, suggests that although
not listed within the defined purpose (b) towns in the Stage 1 GBR, it appeared that gaps associated with the
smaller settlements of Chorley wood, Maple Cross and Abbots Langley were also taken in consideration in
the assessments themselves.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:lé 8p0rt Page 13



The Stage 2 GBR considered all of the above-named areas and further expanded the list to include
Amersham and Chalfont St Peter/ Gerrards Cross.

The assessment explored:
o Relationship with towns, in terms of physical proximity;

e Degree of openness and extent of existing development;

e Relationship with urban area versus the countryside, including the extent of containment of development,
dominance of development with an adjacent area or containment by physical landscape elements; and

e Presence of built and natural landscape elements that can increase or decrease perceived separation.

Purpose (c¢) To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment
The Stage 2 GBR assessment for this purpose, took into account:

e Impact of existing washed over development;

e Impact of inset development;

e Potential for boundaries to limit harm to the wider countryside;

e Nature of any development and whether it could be considered ‘appropriate development’ and the extent
to which the different land uses are considered urbanising;

e Extent to which land displays characteristics of countryside, i.e. an absence of built or urbanising
influences, physical relationship with adjacent settlement and wider countryside, and its containment;

e Presence of physical landscape elements that influence the relationship between settlement and adjacent
countryside.

Purpose (d) To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns

The Stage 1 GBR, noted that there were no historic towns within or adjacent to the study area but considered
this purpose in relation to designated Conservation Areas to reflect the local context. The Stage 2 study took
a slightly different approach suggesting, at paragraph 3.87, that the local context applied in Stage 1 i.e.
assessing in relation to Conservation Areas, was more appropriately considered as part of landscape or
cultural heritage sensitivity assessments. On this basis and given that no historic towns were identified of
relevance to this purpose, no assessment of this purpose was undertaken.

Purpose (e) To assist in the urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban
land

The Stage 2 GBR set out its methodology that it is the extent to which brownfield land is used to meet
development needs that is of primary relevance when judging the extent to which Green Belt land serves this
purpose. It went on further to state that although in theory the extent to which Green Belt land, if released,
would be capable of redirecting development away from brownfield sites would vary spatially, there was no
evidence of this locally. It therefore concluded within the methodology that the contribution across the whole
district was limited, and no further detailed assessment was undertaken in relation to purpose ().

3.4 Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis (2020)

3.4.1 Purpose

A Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis Study'® was prepared on behalf of TRDC and published in January
2020. The main purpose of the study was to identify the variations in harm to the Green Belt purposes that
would result from the creation of a new inset settlement, distinct from any existing inset areas.

15 LUC (2020) Three Rivers District Council Green Belt Study, Stage 3: New Settlement Analysis

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel Fl?pg Page 14



342 Approach and key findings

The Stage 3 study follows a similar approach to the Stage 2 study, by considering potential harm to the
Green Belt purposes, considering the contribution made to the Green Belt purposes for the land that would
be released and the impact this would have on the contribution made by adjacent Green Belt land.

This assessment only considered land for a new settlement contained entirely within the Three Rivers
District. The Council specified that a new settlement would need to accommodate a minimum of 3,000
dwellings with associated community and education facilities, at a minimum development density of 40
dwellings per hectare. This was approximated to the need for at least 100 hectares as an indicative minimum
size.

The study assessment followed two steps:
e Step 1 — identification of search areas
e Step 2 — assessment of harm to Green Belt purposes
To identify search areas, the following considerations were applied:
e At least 100 hectares of developable area
e Atleast 250m minimum distance between existing inset areas

e Any substantial areas of existing development, for example. villages or hamlets, were not taken into
account when considering the extent of area available for development, however smaller clusters of
houses or individual dwellings were not deducted from the areas analysed.

e Any area which had designations that would be considered an ‘absolute’ constraint to development
were excluded from area calculations.

e New settlement should not be subdivided by either a motorway or the forthcoming HS2 rail line, as
this would result in the creation of two separate smaller communities.

Seven search areas were identified (Step 1). These were assessed on their contribution to the Green Belt
purposes and their impact on the contribution of adjacent Green Belt land, following a similar assessment
process as per the Stage 2 GBR (Step 2).

The study concluded that the release of 100 hectares of land in any of the search areas would result in at least
high harm to the Green Belt purposes.

A high-level summary for each of the seven search areas is provided below.

e Release of any 100 hectares in search areas 1 (land south of Chorleywood), 2 (land south of
Batchworth and west of Northwood), and 6 (land to north east of Abbots Langley and Watford)
would result in very high harm.

e For search areas 3 (land to the north of Croxley Green and south of the M25), 5 (land between Kings
Langley and Bedmond) and 7 (land to west of Abbots Langley and Watford) areas of high harm of
varying sizes was identified for each.

e For search area 4 (land around Sarratt) two distinct areas of high harm were identified, of 160 and
320 hectares. The smaller of the two areas would have less impact on the perceived separation of

towns.
Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:ué onrt Page 15



4, Review of previous studies

This section sets out our review of the previous GBRs to establish whether they are still fit for purpose
against the updated national Green Belt policy and guidance.

4.1 National policy consistency

Much of national Green Belt policy remains unchanged and therefore broad approaches within the previous
GBRs for TRDC are considered to still be valid. Green Belt policy has remained consistent in relation to the
fundamental aim (openness), purposes and permanence which were key principles underpinning the previous
assessments.

4.2 Geographic scope

The PPG stipulates that the whole Green Belt should be considered in the first instance. The Stage 1 GBR
provides an overview of the performance of the Green Belt for the whole district.

The PPG goes on to say that assessments should be sufficiently granular to enable assessment of the variable
contribution of the Green Belt to the purposes. Therefore, a small number of large assessment areas would
not be appropriate. Authorities should consider where it may be appropriate to vary the size of assessment
areas based on local circumstances. The approach taken in the Stage 2 and Stage 3 GBR is consistent with
this guidance, having assessed parcels at a sufficient level of granularity, with significant sub-division of
parcels used in Stage 1.

The geographic scope of the studies is considered to still be robust and aligned with new national policy and
guidance.

4.3 Green Belt purposes

4.3.1 NPPF Green Belt purposes

The five main purposes of Green Belt have been retained and continue to form the basis of Green Belt
assessments (NPPF 2024, para 143). The GBR studies have used these purposes as the basis of their
assessment, as is considered appropriate.

Given the new need for grey belt to be identified and its definition within the NPPF, GBRs must include
performance scores for Green Belt purposes (a), (b) and (d). The GBR studies have considered these three
purposes. Although the Stage 2 GBR does not explicitly include purpose (d) within the individual parcel
assessment proformas, the methodology explores this purpose concluding it does not apply within district. It
can thus be assumed that all land makes no contribution to this purpose.

Given the new need to identify whether Green Belt release will fundamentally undermine the purposes
(taken together) of the remaining Green Belt when considered across the area of the plan as part of the
development of the exceptional circumstances case, it is necessary for the assessment of performance within
GBRs to cover all of the purposes (a-¢)

The Stage 1 GBR carried out assessments against all five purposes of the NPPF, so the scope of the purpose
assessment is appropriate for use in future analysis in relation to the fundamentally undermine test. The
Stage 2 GBR carried out assessments against three of the five purposes (a), (b) and (c); however, as set out
above, it also considered purposes (d) and (e) within the methodology and respectively concluded no
contribution and limited contribution across all parcels for these purposes.

Again, the scope of analysis undertaken for the purposes is considered to be robust and aligned the new
national policy and guidance.

4.3.2 Interpretation of purposes (a), (b) and (d)
The latest PPG now states that when making judgements as to whether land is grey belt (see 4.5, below) their
contribution to purposes (a), (b) and (d) needs to be considered. It has therefore provided new guidance for

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l 13(]1 Page 16



those making judgments against these three purposes. It lists illustrative features to be considered when
making these judgments.

When identifying grey belt within Three Rivers, it is the Stage 2 GBR that is of relevance. In comparing the
illustrative features for assessment set out in the PPG (see Section 2.35) to the approach taken in the Stage 2
GBR (see Section 3.3.3), it is judged that they are aligned. Thus, on this aspect, the Stage 2 GBR would be

an appropriate basis for the identification of grey belt land.

To illustrate the degree of alignment between the guidance and the study, Table 1, makes a comparison
between those illustrative features provided in the PPG for land making a ‘strong contribution’ against (a),
(b) and (d) and the approach and features used in the Stage 2 GBA 2019 study to judge a ’significant’ or
‘relatively significant’ impact against those same purposes. The table illustrates that the approaches are,
ultimately, aligned.

Table 1 Comparison of PPG’s illustrative features to approach taken in the Stage 2 GBA 2019 study

Purpose PPG — Strong contribution Stage 2 — Significant or relatively

significant impact

(a) Assessment areas that contribute strongly are likely to be Development would constitute significant
free of existing development and lack physical feature(s) sprawl as the land is close to the large built-up
in reasonable proximity that could restrict and contain area, contains no or very limited urban
development. development, is not itself contained by any
They are also likely to include all of the following urban de\'/elopment, and has strong distinction
features: from the inset settlement edge.

- be adjacent or near to a large built up area /

- if developed, result in an incongruous pattern of Devclelopment would constitute relatively

development (such as an extended “finger” of significant sprawl as the land is close to the

development into the Green Belt) large built-up area and contains very limited
urban development and has a strong sense of
openness. It relates more strongly to the wider
countryside.

(b) Assessment areas that contribute strongly are likely to be Development would have a significant impact
free of existing development and include all of the on the contribution to Purpose 2 as it would
following features: result in physical or visual coalescence of
- forming a substantial part of a gap between towns towns 'Oli Wouild 1‘?3"16 2} negligible physical

. . . t ts t

- the development of which would be likely to result in the fg}g’a?;lﬁ 0:0 phiysical elements fo preserve

loss of visual separation of towns ) ’
Development would have a relatively
significant impact on the contribution to
Purpose 2 as it would result in a significant
narrowing of the visual or physical gap
between towns with no physical elements to
preserve separation.

d Assessment areas that contribute strongly are likely be The Stage 2 study did not identify any historic
free of existing development and to include all of the towns which could be considered relevant in
following features: the assessment of this Green Belt purpose.

- form part of the setting of the historic town
- make a considerable contribution to the special character
of a historic town. This could be (but is not limited to) as a
result of being within, adjacent to, or of significant visual
importance to the historic aspects of the town

4.4 Definition of large built-up areas and towns

The NPPF 2024 still does not define large built-up areas or towns, however the latest PPG clarified that the
NPPF’s purposes (a), (b) and (d) do not relate to villages. In order to assess NPPF purpose performance,
these places must be defined within GBRs. As set out in Section 2.4, the definition of large built-up areas
and towns has been subject to significant scrutiny in recent appeals following the publication of the new
PPG. It is therefore important that confidence can be placed on the definitions adopted in the studies, if
Green Belt evidence is to be judged robust.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited é

Page:32on

Page 17



The Stage 1 and Stage 2 GBRs adopted similar but not completely identical approaches to the definitions of
large built-up areas and towns within the assessments of purposes (a) and (b) (Table 2). Both studies stated
that there were no historic towns in relation to purpose (d).

Table 2 Defined large built-up areas and towns in Stage 1 and Stage 2 GBR

Note: Italicised settlements appeared only in the Stage 2 GBR

District Purpose (a)- large built-up areas Purpose (b) — towns
Three Rivers Rickmansworth Rickmansworth
Chorleywood Chorleywood
Croxley Green Croxley Green
Loudwater Abbots Langley
South Oxhey Maple Cross
Watford Watford Watford
Dacorum Hemel Hempstead Hemel Hempstead
Hertsmere Bushey Bushey
Radlett
St Albans St Albans
Buckinghamshire Amersham
Chalfont St Peter/ Gerrards Cross
London Borough of Hillingdon | Northwood (part) Northwood
London Borough of Harrow Pinner

The ONS provides a series of statistics for built-up areas and provides a useful classification of settlements
based on population sizes (Figure 5). The advantage of using this data source is that it allows consistent
comparison / categorisation of places across England. However, it should be noted that the classification is
not completely clear cut in terms of using this as a definitive source to define large built-up urban areas and
towns with GBRs, as for example, larger village and small towns are grouped together and some of the
geographical units used within the statistics do not align with how places are viewed within settlement
hierarchies or with respect to administrative boundaries. For example, ONS statistics group Kings Langley
and Abbots Langley together, which are identified as separate places in the settlement hierarchy.
Nevertheless, the ONS statistics provide a useful starting point for defining large built-up areas and towns,
which can be further refined with reference to published settlement hierarchies for districts and boroughs.

Figure 5 ONS built-up area size classification

Population range (Usual resident population) BUA size classification Approximate settlement type

0-4,999 minor hamlet or village
5,000-19,999 small larger village / small town
20,000-74,999 medium medium towns
75,000-199,999 large large towns / smaller cities
200,000+ major cities

Source: Towns and cities, characteristics of built-up areas, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics, accessed 09/05/2024

As can be seen in Table 3, around half of the settlements assessed within the GBRs fall within medium
towns / built-up areas category, or larger. Ambiguity still lies with regards to Chorleywood, Abbots Langley,
Radlett, Amersham and Chalfont St Peter / Gerrards Cross as to whether they are larger villages or small
towns.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pagﬁl 183 Page 18


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/articles/townsandcitiescharacteristicsofbuiltupareasenglandandwales/census2021#built-up-areas

Table 3 Classification of GBR settlements by ONS built-up area size statistics

BUA Size Classification Settlement Type Settlements
Major Cities London (including Northwood and Pinner)
Large Large towns / smaller cities | Watford (including South Oxhey)
Hemel Hempstead
St Albans
Medium Medium towns Rickmansworth (including Croxley Green)
Bushey
Small Larger village / small town Chorleywood (including Loudwater)
Kings Langley and Abbots Langley
Radlett
Amersham
Chalfont St Peter / Gerrards Cross
Minor Hamlet / village /a

Source: Towns and cities, characteristics of built-up areas, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics, accessed 09/05/2024
Note: Maple Cross does not appear as an identified location within these statistics

Turning to adopted Local Plans and settlement hierarchies for emerging Local Plans to consider this issue
further. The adopted Three Rivers settlement hierarchy !¢ is as follows (Table 4). All of the settlements
identified as large built-up areas or towns with the GBRs are either a principal town, key centre or secondary
centre. Crucially none of the settlements are identified as villages within the settlement hierarchy, which is
the key exclusion as set out in the PPG.

Table 4 Three Rivers Settlement Hierarchy

Settlement Type Settlements ‘
Principal Town Rickmansworth
Key Centres South Oxhey, Croxley Green, Abbots Langley, Chorleywood,
Leavesden and Garston, Mill End
Secondary Centres Kings Langley, Carpenders Park, Eastbury, Oxhey Hall, Maple
Cross, Moor Park
Villages Bedmond, Sarratt

Now considering each of the settlements within the neighbouring authorities:

e Northwood (Hillingdon) and Pinner (Harrow) both lie within the London built-up area.
e  Watford is classed as a town within Watford’s adopted Local Plan!’.

e Hemel Hempstead is listed as a town in Dacorum’s settlement hierarchy'8.

e Bushey and Radlett are respectively identified as Tier II and Tier III key settlements in Hertsmere’s
settlement hierarchy'®. This is assumed to be equivalent to towns as Tiers IV-V11 are specifically
identified as key or other villages.

e St Albans is categorised as a city/ large town in St Albans’ settlement hierarchy®.

e Amersham is referred to as a town and Chalfont St Peter is referred to as a village in the Chiltern District
Local Plan (the former district area now superseded by Buckinghamshire Council)?'.

16 Three Rivers District Council (2011) Local Development Framework Core Strategy

17 Watford Borough Council (2022) A Sustainable Town Watford Local Plan 2021-2038

'8 Dacorum Borough Council (2017) Settlement Hierarchy Study

19 Hertsmere Borough Council (date unknown) Planning for Growth, Settlement hierarchy and Accessibility Mapping Analysis

20 St Albans City and District Council (2023) Settlement Hierarchy Study Part 1 Baseline; St Albans City and District Council (2023) Settlement
Hierarchy Study Part 2

2! Chiltern District Council (2011), Chiltern District Local Plan

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:iéﬂport Page 19


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/articles/townsandcitiescharacteristicsofbuiltupareasenglandandwales/census2021#built-up-areas

e Gerrards Cross is referred to as a town in the South Bucks District Local Plan (the former district area
now superseded by Buckinghamshire Council)?.

The majority of the GBR assessed settlements are classed as a town in their respective local authorities. Only
Chalfont St Peter is identified as a village, and the Three Rivers settlement hierarchy did not classify
Loudwater as a location due to its poor sustainability assessment.

Summary

As presented above, the majority of settlements assessed in the GBR have been confirmed as towns within
the ONS statistics and / or adopted Local Plans or Settlement Hierarchies. Where smaller scale settlements
have been considered in the GBRs, this has been in the context that settlements are close enough together to
be contiguous with larger settlements and considered as one functional urban area, i.e. Chorleywood with
Loudwater, Watford with South Oxhey, and Gerrards Cross with Chalfont St. Peter, rather than considered as
standalone settlements. In this context, it is therefore judged that the previous studies align with the updated
guidance in the PPG and do not consider villages per se for any of the purpose assessments.

4.5 Grey belt identification

Grey belt is a newly introduced element of Green Belt reviews. It has not been considered in any previous
reviews and therefore needs to be identified through this review.

The latest Green Belt PPG has provided guidance on making judgements on the three purposes that define
grey belt identification — purposes (a), (b) and (d). As stated above in section 4.4, the new guidance on how
to make judgements against these purposes aligns well with the approach taken in the Stage 2 GBA study
against those purposes. Outcomes of assessments conducted in the Stage 2 GBA can, therefore, be used in
this study when conducting grey belt identification.

4.6 Fundamentally undermine assessment

The latest revision to the NPPF requires that authorities altering their Green Belt boundaries, where
exceptional circumstances exist to do so, must be able to show that doing so would not ‘fundamentally
undermine’ the purposes taken together of remaining Green Belt land, looking across the whole extent of
their Green Belt allocation. As the fundamentally undermine test has only recently been introduced it was not
considered in any of the previous GBRs. As set out in section 2.5, this will need to be explored as part of any
Exceptional Circumstances case.

4.7 Implications for this study

The review for the Stage 1, 2 and 3 GBRs has demonstrated that the approaches taken in these studies are
aligned with new national policy and guidance for Green Belt and can continue to be relied upon.

The focus for this study, and wider work being undertaken by the Council, should therefore be on delivering
newly introduced elements of Green Belt Review that did not form part of the original studies, i.e. the
identification of grey belt and consideration of whether the release of Green Belt would fundamentally
undermine the Green Belt purposes taken together. Additionally, this new study should consider whether any
new areas of Green Belt need to be subject to assessment as a result of the changes in policy or guidance or
as a result of new potential growth locations being identified through new Call for Sites. This final aspect is
explored in the following section.

22 South Bucks District Council (2011), South Bucks District Local Plan

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l 135 Page 20



5. Identification of new assessment areas

51 Scope of task

Following the review of the previous GBRs, Section 5 identifies whether there is a need for any further areas
to be assessed in this study. This considers the geographical extent of the previous Stage 2 and 3 GBRs, land
within the Green Belt under consideration as part of the Council’s site selection work as well as updates to
guidance about land that could be considered for release for sustainable development.

5.2 Evaluation of extent of previous assessments

The full extent of Stage 2 parcels assessed in TRDC’s Stage 2 GBR are shown below in Figure 6. When
considering the level of coverage of the Green Belt achieved, TRDC used a thorough approach, applying a
wide ring around all major settlements to identify parcels. This was complemented by the Stage 3 GBR
which considered potential locations for a new settlement (Figure 7). Between the two studies, extensive
coverage of the District’s Green Belt was achieved in the assessments.

5.3 Evaluation of sites

TRDC provided a GIS data layer of potential sites being considered as part of its site selection work. Arup
then compared this set of sites against the Stage 2 GBR parcels to cross check whether any additional parcels
need to be assessed to ensure that Green Belt can be appropriately taken into consideration during site
selection. Due to the extensive nature of the previous Stage 2 and 3 assessments, no additional requirement
to assess further parcels was identified.

54 Evaluation of railway stations and motorway junctions

Recent updates to national policy and guidance on Green Belt (see Section 2 for further information) urge
greater consideration as to whether proposed sites in the Green Belt are in sustainable locations for
development. As such, many local planning authorities are assessing whether undeveloped land around their
railway stations within the Green Belt might be considered as grey belt or recommended for release from the
Green Belt for other reasons.

Consideration was given to all railway stations (mainline stations and London Underground stations) within
the district. Three were identified as having significant areas of undeveloped land adjacent to or in the
immediate vicinity of the station and within the Green Belt — Moor Park (a private estate), Chorleywood
(mostly common land) and Kings Langley stations. However, the Stage 2 GBA had assessed parcels
covering the land surrounding all three of these stations. No further assessment was therefore necessary.

Other local planning authorities are responding to the guidance updates by assessing land near motorway
junctions as options for employment sites. However, it was determined that this was not necessary in Three
Rivers as the local authority has very little employment need to fulfil.

5.5 Summary

In conclusion, the above evaluations demonstrate that no additional areas within Three Rivers require Green
Belt assessment.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:lé) 6p0rt Page 21



6. Provisional grey belt identification

6.1 Scope of task

For the purposes of plan-making, the grey belt is identified as any land that is not judged to strongly
contribute to any one of purposes (a), (b), or (d) and that is not restricted by the application of policies in
NPPF footnote 7. As set out in section 2.3, within a GBA it is only possible to provisionally identify grey
belt based on the purpose scores, while final confirmation of grey belt status will be achieved through wider
plan-making or through development management processes when NPPF footnote 7 can be taken fully into
account. This section provides an overview of the provisional grey belt identification exercise undertaken for
TRDC.

6.2 Grey belt scores and findings

The results of the Stage 2 GBA purposes assessment were filtered to isolate parcels which do not contribute
strongly to any one of purposes (a), (b), or (d). The score values from the Stage 2 GBA were matched to the
PPG’s weak, moderate and strong contribution scale, as show in Table 5. Thus, parcels identified within the
Stage 2 GBA as not having a relatively significant or significant impact were identified as provisional grey
belt.

Table 5 Purpose scores

Stage 2 GBA score Grey belt translation

Limited to No Impact Weakly Contributes
Relatively Limited Impact Weakly Contributes
Moderate Impact Moderately Contributes
Relatively Significant Impact Strongly Contributes
Significant Impact Strongly Contributes

Provisional grey belt has been identified within the Green Belt parcels assessed in Stage 2. The results are
summarised in Table 6 and illustrated spatially in Figure 6. Please see Appendix 2 for a detailed table of all
parcels, providing purpose scores and overall grey belt status.

Table 6 Summary of grey belt land of green belt assessed in Three Rivers

Status Number of Stage % of Green Belt % of assessed Area of assessed

(Provisional) 2 Green Belt parcels Green Belt Area Green Belt (Ha)
parcels

Grey belt 76 55% 38% 932

Non-grey belt 63 45% 63% 1,441

Total 139 100% 100% 2,373

Note: Figures may not sum due to rounding

Provisional grey belt parcels are scattered throughout the district with no clear concentration (Figure 12).
There are provisional grey belt parcels in the washed over villages of Bedmond and Heronsgate, between
Abbots Langley and Leavesden, on the northern edge of Chorleywood and Rickmansworth, and south of
Maple Cross.

Just over half of the assessed parcels are provisionally deemed grey belt, equating to around 40% of the
assessed Green Belt land.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited P agﬁl l&l Page 22



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2025

A4

25/00/2025 10:57

Watford

Bushey

Contains data from OS Zoomstacketres

Three Rivers Green Belt
[ Three Rivers District Boundary

Provisional Grey Belt
[ Green Belt
[] Grey Belt

Coordinate System: British National Grid

V3 l 25/00/25 l SP I T8 l KF l

mvl DmlByICMdlﬁdeAmM

ARUP

8 Fitzroy St

London W1T 4BJ

Tel +44 20 7636 1531
vewwi.arup.com

Drawing Title

Figure 6: Provisional Grey Belt
identified in assessed Green Belt
parcels (those outside of district
removed)

Client

Three Rivers District Council

Scale atA4

1:85,000

Role

Project Name

Green Belt Assessment (2025)

Page 38

Suitability

Project Number Rev

308127-00

Drawing Number

\\globalllondon\PTG\ICL-JOBS'3000001308127-00 3 RIVERS GREEN BELT ASSESSMENT\04 Project Work\02 ing Data\T! ivers_v0\ThreeRi

_v0.aprx ® Arup 2025



6.3 Next steps

As previously mentioned, purpose scores only form part of the determination of grey belt status. Thus, the
Council should review whether the application of policies relating to NPPF footnote 7 would provide a
strong reason for refusing or restricting development, once more detail is known for parcels or sites either
through plan-making or the development management process. In reaching this judgement, the PPG states
that authorities should consider both where areas of grey belt would be covered by or affect designations in
NPPF footnote 7.

Since the Stage 2 GBA involved a filtering process to remove assessment areas which were entirely or
largely covered by major policy constraints (which were considered to effectively rule out development of
the land) some of the footnote 7 constraints have already been partially taken into consideration. The
following constraints were considered:

Scheduled Monuments;
Registered Parks and Gardens;
Sites of Special Scientific Interest;
Local Nature Reserves;

Ancient Woodland;

Common land; and

Flood Zone 3b.

The analysis contained within the GBA forms only part of the footnote 7 judgement. Therefore, the Council
should review whether the application of the full range of designations relating to footnote 7 would provide a
strong reason for refusing or restricting development.

Once this final exercise has been completed, the Council will be able to confirm grey belt status of parcels,
or sites within parcels. Confirmation of grey belt status will not necessarily equate to land being allocated for
development or released from the Green Belt. As part of the plan-making process the Council will need to
consider the balance of wider planning factors, including whether the release of Green Belt sites (including
but not limited to grey belt land) would contribute to a sustainable pattern of development and apply the
‘fundamentally undermine test’ for any proposed Green Belt release, in line with national policy and
guidance.

It should be noted that for the purposes of decision-making, if a site is judged to be grey belt and its release
would pass the fundamentally undermine test, then it will still be necessary to consider whether development
would not be inappropriate in the Green Belt, in line with the NPPF (paragraph 155), as illustrated in Figure
2 of the NPPF (Figure 7).

Figure 7 When is development in the Green Belt not inappropriate under paragraph 155 of the NPPF?

The site is in a
sustainable location
"“ﬁﬁ,“_h__‘_‘m ____,..-—r""_.
- __..»-—"'"'f Development is

Development of the x : —
site would not not inappropriate’

The site is grey belt

The site provides in the Green Belt
Golden Rules where fundamentzly

apphicable / A \ purposes of the
%, remaining Green Belt
,

undermine the

There is demonstrable
unmet need for the
development propased

Source: MHCLG (2025) Green Belt - GOV.UK, Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 64-010-20250225

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel R?DQ Page 24


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt

7. Washed over villages commentary

71 Scope of task

This section provides an updated commentary on the washed over villages that were previously assessed
through the Stage 1 GBR, alongside considering whether the national policy changes effect the previous
recommendations.

7.2 Outcome of Stage 1 assessment

Outside of the urban areas in Three Rivers District, there are a number of smaller villages, hamlets and

isolated dwellings washed over by the Green Belt. The case for in-setting of settlements within the Green

Belt was considered as part of the Stage 1 GBR, with the villages of Heronsgate, Sarratt and Bedmond being
assessed. Sarratt and Bedmond are identified as villages in the Three Rivers settlement hierarchy (see Table

4), with Heronsgate being considered as an extension to Chorleywood (identified as a key centre).

The Stage 1 GBR reviewed the settlements in the context of NPPF 2012 paragraphs 84, 86 and 89(5) relating
to sustainable patterns of development, washed over villages and limited infilling respectively (now NPPF
2024 paragraphs 148, 150 and 154 (e)). It concluded that Heronsgate and Sarratt should remain washed over.
This was considered appropriate as it reflected the general low-density character of these villages as well as
their strong relationship and contribution to the Green Belt. Whereas the report concluded that there was a
case to consider insetting Bedmond and establishing a village envelope, if additional development needed be

identified around the village. This was due to the compact form and densities within Bedmond and its

variable relationship with the Green Belt. Figure 8 shows the character, analysis and recommendations for
each village taken from the Stage 1 GBR.

Figure 8 Outcome of Stage 1 GBR washed over villages assessment

Settlement Character and Relationship with the Green Belt Analysis and Recommendation

Heronsgate A collection of dwellings set within large plots as an The settlement has a unique character (recognised by its
extension to Chorleywood to the north west. The Conservation Area status) and a generally strong
settlement has historical significance as the first relationship with the Green Belt within which it sits. The
Charter Settlement in Great Britain. As such it has very low density character of the development means that
Conservation Area status to protect the character whilst it represents built development, the openness of the
of the setilement, which includes the relationship Green Belt is largely maintained, with the settlement
between the dwellings and their landscape setting. making a contribution to Green Belt character in this
Generally, there is a strong unity of character and locality. Definition of a settlement boundary could prompt
high sensitivity to change. more dense development and hence erosion of the

. relationship between the settlement and its Green Belt
The connection between the settlement and the setting and its broader landscape setting (the Chilterns
Gr_een Belt which largely surrounds is variable, AONB lying to the south west).
being strongest to the south west where the soft
edges of the housing plots effectively merge into DO NOT INSET
the wider open countryside, and more detached to
the north east across Long Lane. The M25 severs
the connection to the south east.

Sarratt A street village built around an extended green The unique character of Sarratt along the village axis of
which is the focus for a Conservation Area which The Green which has an open character and a high degree
protects its attractive spacious character and of permeability connecting to the wider Green Belt, means
individual dwellings arranged around The Green. that insetting is inappropriate. Notwithstanding some

. . somewhat incongruous additions to the built extent of the
There are seueral_ madf__\m extensions 1o th‘? village, village any further increase in density would erode the
two of which are linear in character (extending sense of connection with, and contribution to, the wider
south westwards) and one is more nucleated (to Green Belt and its landscape setting (the Chilterns AONB
the north west). Together, these comprise a lying to the south west).
relatively large settlement, although there is a
sense of spaciousness and hence connection with, DO NOT INSET
and contribution to, the wider Green Belt.

Bedmond A clustered village of highly varying character, The relatively dense character of the village and its

centred on the junction of Toms Lane and High
Street. Modern extensions have expanded the
village to create a relatively dense form with often
limited connection with the wider Green Belt in
which it sits. Whilst the village is small, the sense
of visual or physical connection with the Green Belt
is only strongly apparent at its edges, some of
which are affected by localised sprawl of
permanent and semi-permanent development.

evolution through clusters of growth means that the
relationship with and contribution to the surrounding Green
Belt is relatively weak. Whilst the locality generally (sitting
between Watford and Hemel Hempstead) is vulnerable to
change through sporadic encroachment and localised
sprawl along minor roads, the definition of a village
envelope could help to better define the role and longer
term character of the village.

POTENTIAL FOR INSETTING

Source: Amec Wheeler Foster (2017) Green Belt Review — Strategic Analysis

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

Paged.

Page 25



7.3 Implications of policy and guidance

As set out in the NPPF, villages which make an important contribution to the openness of the Green Belt
should remain washed over and retain their Green Belt designation, with paragraph 150 (NPPF 2024) setting
out the following specific policy in relation to villages in the Green Belt: “If it is necessary to restrict
development in a village primarily because of the important contribution which the open character of the
village makes to the openness of the Green Belt, the village should be included in the Green Belt. If,
however, the character of the village needs to be protected for other reasons, other means should be used,
such as conservation area or normal development management policies, and the village should be excluded
from the Green Belt.”

However, alongside the consideration of the village’s contribution to the openness of the Green Belt, it is
necessary to consider whether Green Belt designation is constraining the ability for these villages to develop
to support their communities. Therefore, it is important to consider that “when drawing up or reviewing
Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote sustainable patterns of development should determine whether a
site’s location is appropriate” and that “Strategic policy-making authorities should consider the
consequences for sustainable development of channelling development towards urban areas inside the Green
Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt” (NPPF 2024, para 148).

It is worth noting, that even if the villages remain washed over by the Green Belt, national policy supports
“limited infillings in villages” (NPPF 2024, para 154 (¢)).

This policy approach towards washed over and inset villages in the Green Belt has stayed consistent since
the 2012 NPPF, therefore the assessment conducted in the Stage 1 GBR is still considered to align with
national policy.

7.4 Village commentary

This section reviews the villages of Heronsgate, Sarratt and Bedmond giving consideration to the village’s
character, Green Belt assessment including provisional grey belt identification and the sustainability of the
villagesbefore providing an updated recommendation as to whether they should be considered for insetting
or remain washed over by the Green Belt.

7.4.1 Heronsgate
Location: Heronsgate is located to the southwest of Three Rivers District. It lies to the southeast of

Chorleywood and is considered an extension to this settlement. Heronsgate is fully washed over by the Green
Belt.

Village character: The village is a collection of dwellings that are set within large plots, with the overall
density of development being less than two dwellings per hectare. This low density per hectare allows the
settlement to predominately maintain the openness of the Green Belt. The character of the settlement is
recognised in its Conservation Area, which was designated in 1993%, the “Heronsgate Conservation Area”.
A review of published online data sources, including the AMR housing completions and Housing Land
Supply statements, revealed no significant development within the village since the Stage 1 GBR analysis
was undertaken and therefore it has been assumed there is correspondingly no substantive change to the
village character.

Green Belt Assessment: In the Stage 1 GBR, Heronsgate was covered by parcel SW7. In this assessment,
the parcel SW7 was assessed as making a ‘contribution’ to each of the purposes (a)-(d) and given an overall
assessment of ‘contribution’.

In the Stage 2 GBR, Heronsgate was covered by CH6 and given a harm rating of ‘Moderate-High’.

In this study, the Stage 2 GBR parcel CH6, has been provisionally identified as grey belt (See Section 6 and
Appendix A.2).

2 BEAMS Ltd (2012) Heronsgate Conservation Area Appraisal, available here: https://cdn.threerivers.gov.uk/files/2023/02/7f16a640-b1d3-11ed-
a36d-4{fc695009¢9-final-heronsgate-ca-appraisal-2012-final.pdf

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 143(]1 Page 26



Settlement Hierarchy: The Council’s Settlement Appraisal,* identified Heronsgate as having ‘poor’
sustainability. The Settlement Appraisal concluded that settlements with a poor sustainability score have
limited potential for growth, with only minor development through small sites and infill potentially being
appropriate. The Council are updating their settlement hierarchy as part of the emerging Local Plan and
should the appraisal reach a different conclusion about the growth potential of the village, it may be
necessary to review the washed over village recommendation.

Recommendation

The Stage 1 GBR recommended that Heronsgate should remain washed over. Since that assessment, there
have been no significant changes to the overall character of the village and the Stage 2 GBR identified
Heronsgate as an area where development in the Green Belt would lead to moderate-high harm.

Although the Stage 2 parcel that contains Heronsgate has provisionally been identified as grey belt; its final
status will need to be confirmed through the Council’s site selection work. As highlighted in section 6.3
grey belt status does not necessarily equate to allocation or release of Green Belt land and wider planning
factors will need to be considered, including the sustainability of the location.

The latest available settlement hierarchy appraisal concluded that Heronsgate had a poor sustainability score
and limited potential for growth. Subject to the Council’s emerging updated appraisal, it is therefore
reasonable to assume that the village’s future character is unlikely to be changed by significant development
in the future and will likely continue to make the same contribution to the Green Belt’s openness. Therefore,
it is still recommended that the settlement remains washed over and is not inset within the Green Belt.

7.4.2 Sarratt

Location: Sarratt is located to the northwest of Three Rivers District, and it is fully washed over by the
Green Belt.

Village character: Development of village has taken place along The Green, which has an associated
Conservation Area, designated in 1969%°, “The Green, Sarratt”. Sarratt Green had changed very little in its
plan since the medieval period and had not been extensively developed. The Conservation Area is very
tightly drawn around the Green and its associated development with a linear nature. The Green’s character is
very open, which allows the village to maintain a sense of openness of and connection to the Green Belt. A
review of published online data sources, including the AMR housing completions and Housing Land Supply
statements, revealed no significant development within the village since the Stage 1 GBR analysis was
undertaken and therefore it has been assumed there is correspondingly no substantive change to the village
character.

Green Belt Assessment: In the Stage 1 GBR, Sarratt was covered by parcel NW4. In this assessment, the
parcel NW4 was assessed as making a ‘strong contribution’ to purposes (a) and (¢), a ‘low contribution’ to
purpose (b) and a ‘contribution’ to purpose (d) and given an overall assessment of ‘strong contribution’.

There were no relevant parcels in the Stage 2 GBR, and therefore there are no parcels which could be classed
as grey belt adjacent to the settlement.

Settlement Hierarchy: The Council’s Settlement Appraisal, identified Sarratt as having ‘fair’ sustainability,
meaning the village could potentially accommodate additional development that might benefit the
settlement’s role and maintain or enhance the viability of services. On this basis, the adopted Core Strategy?®,
identified Sarratt as suitable for some limited development within the village, with Policy PSP4
“Development in Villages (Bedmond, Sarratt)” providing the policy framework for development. The
Council are updating their settlement hierarchy as part of the emerging Local Plan and should the appraisal

24 Three Rivers District Council (2010) Settlement Appraisal. Through discussion with the Council, it was highlighted that work is ongoing to update
the settlement hierarchy. At the time of publication, the 2010 Settlement Appraisal is the latest available published evidence base document.

2 BEAMS Ltd (1994) The Green, Sarratt Conservation Area Appraisal and Townscape Assessment, available here:
https://cdn.threerivers.gov.uk/files/2023/02/9f851060-b1dd-11ed-a36d-4ffc695009c9-the-green-sarratt-conservation-area-appraisal-1994.pdf

26 Three Rivers District Council (2011) Local Development Framework Core Strategy

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag &114 2p0rt Page 27



reach a different conclusion about the growth potential of the village, it may be necessary to review the
washed over village recommendation.

Recommendation

The Stage 1 GBR recommended that Sarratt should remain washed over. Since that assessment, there have
been no significant changes to the character and openness of the settlement and contribution to the Green
Belt, in particular the high degree of permeability of The Green that runs through the centre of Sarratt. The
latest available settlement hierarchy appraisal concluded that Saratt had a fair sustainability score and may be
able to accommodate additional development. It was thus identified for limited development within the
adopted Core Strategy.

It is recommended that the settlement remains washed over and is not inset within the Green Belt. However,
this should be subject to review depending on the outcome of the Council’s emerging updated settlement
appraisal, and whether the Council’s site selection work identifies potential site(s) that may likely change the
character and openness of Sarratt.

7.4.3 Bedmond

Location: Bedmond is located to the north of Three Rivers District, in the area of Green Belt between
Abbots Langley and Hemel Hempstead, and it is fully washed over by the Green Belt.

Village character: Bedmond’s character varies throughout and is primarily composed of a mix of terraced,
semi-detached and detached residential properties centred on the junction of Toms Land and High Street.
The dense character of the village results in there being limited connection to the wider Green Belt, with this
only being apparent towards the edge of the settlement. There are no Conservation Areas associated with
Bedmond. A review of published online data sources, including the AMR housing completions and Housing
Land Supply statements, revealed no significant development within the village since the Stage 1 GBR
analysis was undertaken and therefore it has been assumed there is correspondingly no substantive change to
the village character.

Green Belt Assessment: In the Stage 1 GBR, Sarratt was covered by the parcels N7, N8, N10 and N11, all
of which were assessed to make a strong contribution overall to the Green Belt (Table 7).

Table 7 Stage 1 GBR parcel assessments

Parcel Purpose (a) Purpose (b) Purpose (c) Purpose Overall

(d) assessment

N7 Contribution Strong Strong Low Strong
Contribution contribution contribution contribution

N8 Contribution Strong Contribution Low Strong
contribution contribution contribution

N10 Low Strong Strong Low Strong
contribution contribution contribution contribution contribution

N11 Low Strong Strong Low Strong
contribution contribution contribution contribution contribution

In the Stage 2 GBR, there were a number of parcels defined at and around Bedmond. Figure 9 provides an
overview of the harm rating each of these parcels was given with Figure 10 showing these mapped.

It should be noted that parcel BM1 covers the existing washed over village area, with the Stage 2 GBR
suggesting this could constitute a new inset settlement. Parcel BM4 is also fully developed with there being a
slight distinct from the core of the village due to tree cover but could also be part of the inset settlement.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag&l 143 Page 28



Figure 9 Outcome of Stage 2 GBR parcel assessment for the parcels at/around Bedmond

Settlement Parcel Harm Rating
ons T
BM2
BM3 Moderate

Bedmond BMS Moderate-High

BM6& Moderate
BM7 Moderate-High
BM8 Moderate-High
BM9 High

Source: LUC (2019) Stage 2 Green Belt Assessment for Three Rivers District and Watford Borough
Figure 10 Mapped Stage 2 GBR parcel assessment for the parcels at/around Bedmond

HH2 : o )
i : " 5 .
i 1 _</ \ 3

chell o e
iy

s OF
White House

7

! L s A B = C= 2
D District Boundary [l very high [_] Moderate high [___] Low moderate || Very low

Crarcel I High Moderate [ JLow

KR Absolute Constraints

Source: LUC (2019) Stage 2 Green Belt Assessment for Three Rivers District and Watford Borough

In this study, seven of the nine Stage 2 GBR parcels have been provisionally identified as grey belt (see
Section 6 and Appendix A.2). Only BM7 and BM9 did not receive this provisional status.

Settlement Hierarchy: The Council’s Settlement Appraisal identified Bedmond as having ‘fair’
sustainability, meaning the village could potentially accommodate additional development that might benefit
the settlement’s role and maintain or enhance the viability of services. On this basis, the adopted Core
Strategy?’, identified Bedmond as being suitable for some limited development with the village, with Policy
PSP4 “Development in Villages (Bedmond, Sarratt)” providing the policy framework for development. The
Council are updating their settlement hierarchy as part of the emerging Local Plan and should the appraisal

27 Three Rivers District Council (2011) Local Development Framework Core Strategy

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited P ag e:iééport Page 29



reach a different conclusion about the growth potential of the village, it may be necessary to review the
washed over village recommendation.

Recommendation

At Stage 1 GBR, it was recommended that Bedmond had potential for insetting due to its dense character and
lack of connection with the surrounding Green Belt. The character of Bedmond and its connection to the
Green Belt has not changed in the period since the Stage 1 GBR was conducted. The Stage 2 GBR identified
if the parcels BM1 and BM4 (that cover most of the existing built form of the settlement) were
removed/inset, this would result in ‘low’ harm to Green Belt purposes. However, development in the parcels
that surround Bedmond (BM3 and BM5-BMS8) would lead to ‘moderate’ to ‘moderate-high’ harm to the
Green Belt

The majority of the Green Belt in and around Bedmond has provisionally been identified as grey belt. Final
status will need to be confirmed through the Council’s site selection work. As highlighted in section 6.3
grey belt status does not necessarily equate to allocation or release of Green Belt land and wider planning
factors will need to be considered, including the sustainability of the location.

The latest available settlement hierarchy appraisal concluded that Bedmond had a fair sustainability score
and may be able to accommodate additional development. It was thus identified for limited development
within the adopted Core Strategy. Subject to the Council’s emerging updated settlement appraisal, it is
assumed that the village’s future character is unlikely to be changed by significant development in the future
and will likely continue to make the same contribution to the Green Belt’s openness. It is also assumed that it
is likely to continue to be a location where only limited development is appropriate.

It is recommended that in line with the Stage 1 GBR, that Bedmond is inset as it does not make an important
contribution to the openness of the Green Belt. A defined village envelope should be established, that
considers the harm assessment from the Stage 2 GBR, the outcomes of the Council’s emerging updated
settlement appraisal, and whether the Council’s site selection work identifies potential site(s) in or around
Bedmond.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 1475 Page 30



8. Fundamentally important areas

8.1 Scope of task

This section identifies broad areas of ‘fundamental importance’ within the Green Belt in Three Rivers. This
analysis is intended to provide evidence for the Council to underpin any future ‘fundamentally undermine’
test that will need to be set out as part of an exceptional circumstances case when reviewing Green Belt
boundaries.

Broad areas of ‘fundamental importance’ are those which perform a strategically important role against the
Green Belt purposes across the plan area and are therefore considered the most sensitive to change. Green
Belt does not necessarily need to perform strongly against a// purposes to be considered fundamentally
important to the Green Belt.

The identification of these areas was based on the evidence generated in the Stage 1 GBR in particular the
published mapping and pro forma narratives. It should be noted that the broad areas identified do not
necessarily align with the parcel boundaries within the Stage 1 GBR.

8.2 Analysis

The analysis looks to identify broad areas of Green Belt within Three Rivers that are judged to be of
fundamental importance to the District with regards to purposes (a) — (e).

e Purposes (a), (b) and (c): Several factors were taken into consideration to identify broad areas that
appeared to be of fundamental importance to each of these purposes across the Three Rivers Green Belt.
In identifying broad areas, the study team considered location including geographical concentrations of
strongly performing parcels, development pressures in their vicinity, the absence of physical features in
preventing sprawl and development and the presence of particularly acute gaps between nearby towns.

e Purpose (d): Although assessment against purpose (d) was undertaken as part of the 2017 Stage 1 GBR,
it was acknowledged that there are no historic towns within the district and the analysis was based on
Conservation Areas only. While in the Stage 2 GBR, it was noted that the local context applied in Stage
1, i.e. assessing purpose (d) in relation to Conservation Areas was more appropriately considered as part
of a landscape or cultural heritage sensitivity assessment. Subsequently and given that no historic towns
were identified of relevance to this purpose, no assessment of this purpose was undertaken for the Stage
2 GBR. On this basis, it has been judged that there are no areas within the local Green Belt that can
reasonably be argued to be ‘fundamentally important’, to preserving the setting and character of historic
towns.

e Purpose (e): Similarly, the performance of the Green Belt against purpose (e) was assessed for the Green
Belt as a whole in the Stage 1 GBR. All the Green Belt has been deemed to equally make a ‘limited
contribution’ to purpose (e) and there can be no differentiation between areas in considering fundamental
importance. Therefore, no areas are of fundamental importance in respect of purpose (e).

Seven broad areas of fundamental importance have been identified where future growth should be
considered carefully, to ensure that it does not fundamentally undermine the purposes of the Green Belt
taken together across the plan area (Figure 11). These areas and the rationale for their identification are
identified in Table 8.

It is worth noting that the village of Bedmond, recommended in Section 7 for insetting within the Green Belt,
sits within one of these areas of fundamental importance between Hemel Hempstead and Watford. This will
need to be taken into consideration in any final decision regarding the insetting of Bedmond.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag &14 6p0rt Page 31



0 Hemel

Hempstead

26/00/2025 14:34

St Albans

Watford

Croxley Green

Chorleywood : ‘

Rickmansworth

Pinner

Esri UK, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/NASA,

USGSetres
-
=D
W Fundamentally Important Areas ;;;’:;’: 14+ Broad Areas:of
("] Three Rivers Stage 2 Parcels ARUP Fundamental Importance
Three Rivers Green Belt
] Three Rivers District Boundary BEEIE.
Tel +44 20 7636 1531
wwvi.arup.com
Scale at A4
Seent 1:85,000
Three Rivers District Council e
Suitability
Coordinate System: British National Grid Project Name ;- T 5
roject Number ev
Green Belt Assessment (2025) 308127-00
valzslowzslspl'rs l KFI ~
Drawing Number
mvlmlsylmalmulm Page47 -

\\globallondon\PTG\ICL-JOBS'\3000001308127-00 3 RIVERS GREEN BELT ASSESSMENT\W04 Project Work\02 ing Data\T! ivers_v0\ThreeRivers_v0.aprx ®Arup 2025



Table 8 Broad areas of fundamental importance

Area of the Area Purpose contribution Explanation
Green Belt ID
Area to the 1 Contribution to purpose (a), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
south-east of checking the unrestricted importance to the wider Green Belt as it checks the
Watford and east sprawl of Watford and South unrestricted spread of both the south-eastern edge of
of South Oxhey Oxhey and purpose (b), Watford at Watford Heath and at South Oxhey,
preventing the neighbouring containing the potential for sprawl across the A4008
towns of Watford, Bushey into open land. It also checks the spread of South Oxhey
and the built-up area of southwards and so preventing a merger with the large
London from merging. built-up area extending out from Greater London at
Pinner (Hatch End). The area therefore plays an
important role in maintaining the wider gap between
Watford, South Oxhey, Carpenders Park and Harrow
and London.
Area between 2 Contribution to Purpose (a), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
Hemel checking the unrestricted importance to the wider Green Belt for preventing the
Hampstead and sprawl of Hemel Hempstead, sprawl of Hemel Hempstead where a lack of physical
Abbots Langley. Contribution to purpose (b), boundaries and a significant degree of progressive
preventing the neighbouring intrusion into this area by development, places
towns of Hemel Hempstead, significant pressure on its boundary. It is also important
Abbots Langley, St Albans for preventing the physical and perceptual merger of
and Watford from merging Watford, Hemel Hempstead, St Albans and Abbots
and contribution to purpose Langley. This area of Green Belt may also be deemed of
(c), maintaining openness fundamental importance to the wider Green Belt as it
and preventing constitutes open countryside between Watford and
encroachment on the Hemel Hempstead protecting open countryside from
countryside. further incremental change across land which has been
subject to a significant degree of progressive intrusion.
Area between 3 Contribution to purpose (b), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
Rickmansworth preventing the neighbouring importance to the wider Green Belt as it prevents the
and towns of Rickmansworth physical and perceptual merging of these towns. The
Chorleywood and Chorleywood from gap between Rickmansworth and Chorleywood is
merging. relatively small compared to gaps between other towns
in the context of the Three Rivers Green Belt.
Area between 4 Contribution to purpose (b), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
Rickmansworth, preventing the neighbouring importance to the wider Green Belt as it prevents the
Croxley Green, towns of Rickmansworth, physical and perceptual merging of these towns. The
Northwood and Watford and Northwood area is characterised by a complex pattern of
Watford from merging. development and often very narrow areas of Green Belt
land, comprising small gaps between settlements. It is
thus playing a significant role in preventing multiple
settlements from merging.
Area to the west 5 Contribution to purpose (c), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
of the district, maintaining openness and importance to the wider Green Belt as it helps to
north of preventing encroachment on maintain the openness of this relatively remote
Chorleywood the countryside. countryside to the north-west of the M25 in which there
is evidence of incremental change, particularly in the
vicinity of Sarratt.
Area to the north 6 Contribution to purpose (c), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
of maintaining openness and importance to the wider Green Belt as it helps to
Rickmansworth preventing encroachment on maintain the openness of land between Chorleywood
the countryside. and the M25 as well as the separation of Chorleywood
and Rickmansworth.
Area to east of 7 Contribution to purpose (c), This area of Green Belt may be deemed of fundamental
Abbots Langley maintaining openness and importance to the wider Green Belt as it helps to prevent
and north of preventing encroachment on sprawl and encroachment into open countryside to the
Watford the countryside. north and between Watford and Bricket Wood.
8.3 Next steps on Fundamentally Undermine

The broad areas identified above should be considered carefully by the Council when reviewing their
proposed combination of sites for release and establishing whether they would fundamentally undermine the
remaining Green Belt. Identification of an area of fundamental importance may not, however, mean that

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

P ag &14 8p0rt Page 33



these areas cannot accommodate some development, and it will be for the LPA to undertake a balanced
judgement based on the scale and location of the proposed land for release.

For purposes (a)-(c), while it is possible to identify areas of fundamental importance for their contribution to
these purposes, it should be clarified that is currently unknown exactly where the pressures from
development on the Green Belt will occur. Once the Council has formulated a spatial strategy, as part of the
‘fundamentally undermine test’, it should cross reference the areas of likely development pressure within the
Green Belt, against those areas identified in this assessment as of fundamental importance against the
purposes to consider whether the planned growth strategy would impact adversely on the performance of
these areas of importance.

As ascertained from a review of recent planning appeals (see Section 2 and Appendix A.1), the proportional
loss of Green Belt should also be considered in relation to the totality of the Green Belt within a local
authority. The smaller the proportional loss, the less likely that loss would fundamentally undermine the
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt. Equally consideration should be given as to whether
any land proposed release plays a wider strategic role within the functioning of the Green Belt.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 1479 Page 34



0. Conclusions and recommendations

9.1 Green Belt Review

TRDC began reviewing its Local Plan in 2017. As part of its preparation of an evidence base to inform this
review, it completed three GBR studies. Since the completion of these studies, there have been multiple
changes to national Green Belt planning policy and guidance, including the introduction of grey belt. Arup
was appointed by TRDC to review and update its Green Belt evidence in light of updated national policy and
guidance.

It was found through the course of this study that the previous GBR studies are still aligned with new policy
and guidance as well as the latest case law. As such, assessment areas did not require re-assessment and
collected data was deemed fit to be relied upon, going forward.

The study also considered the spatial extent of the previous GBRs and whether there was a need for any
further areas to be assessed in this study. This considered the geographical extent of the previous Stage 2 and
3 GBRs, land under consideration as part of the Council’s site selection process as well as land in potentially
sustainable locations. The study concluded that the approaches previously taken were proportionate and no
new parcels needed to be assessed.

9.2 Grey belt

The study went on to consider TRDC’s Green Belt evidence with regards to the new policy requirement to
identify grey belt as outlined in national policy and guidance. Following the key steps set out in the Green
Belt PPG and based on the assessment scores of the Stage 2 parcels for NPPF purpose (a), (b) and (d), it was
identified that 55% of the parcels assessed in the Stage 2 GBR are provisionally ‘grey belt’ (equating to
around 40% of the Green Belt area assessed at Stage 2).

Identified provisional grey belt parcels are scattered throughout the district with no clear concentration.
There are provisional grey belt parcels in the washed over villages of Bedmond and Heronsgate, between
Abbots Langley and Leavesden, on the northern edge of Chorley and Rickmansworth, and to the south of
Maple Cross. The Council will need to confirm grey belt status through wider plan-making or development
management processes by considering the second half of the grey belt definition relating to the application of
NPPF Footnote 7.

In terms of development management, if a site is judged to be grey belt and its release would pass the
fundamentally undermine test, then it will still be necessary to consider whether development would not be
inappropriate in the Green Belt, in line with the NPPF (paragraph 155), as illustrated in Figure 2 of the NPPF
(Figure 7).

As highlighted in the Green Belt PPG, not all grey belt will necessarily be allocated for development or
released from the Green Belt. It is for the Council to decide the extent to which this takes place in
considering the balance of planning factors as part of the wider plan-making or development management
processes.

The parcel level identification of grey belt is helpful at a strategic level for plan-making. However, when
considering the identification of grey belt in decision making or for specific sites for allocation in plan-
making, it is more relevant to assess at a site-specific level to ensure the assessment outcomes reflect the site
itself and is not skewed by the characteristics of land potentially some distance from the actual site. In
practice, this means that development management and policy officers may need to make their own
judgements where applications or potential sites only partially overlap with assessed parcels or only make up
a smaller proportion of parcels. It should be noted that at a further level of granularity, assessments of sites’
contribution to the Green Belt may yield differing results to those achieved by the relevant parcels in the
GBR.

9.3 Washed over villages

A review of the previous washed over villages assessment (part of the Stage 1 GBR) was conducted to
consider whether any changes were necessary in light of the new policy and guidance. It was concluded that

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:ué onrt Page 35



the approach taken in the assessment still aligned with current policy and guidance and could still be relied
upon.

Consideration was also given as to whether there were any changes in circumstances, including the
identification of grey belt that would require amended to the conclusions reached in the Stage 1 GBR. After
reviewing the physical and policy contexts for the villages, it is recommended that, in line with the Stage 1
GBR, that Heronsgate and Sarratt should remain washed over within the Green Belt, and that Bedmond be
considered for insetting within the Green Belt with a defined village envelope.

94 Fundamentally important areas

The study provided analysis to support any future efforts by the Council to conduct ‘fundamentally
undermine’ tests when reviewing their Green Belt boundaries. It presented an assessment that looked across
the Three Rivers Green Belt to identify strategic-scale areas that were of ‘fundamental importance’ against
each purpose of the Green Belt, taken together.

Seven areas were identified that should be considered by the District Council when reviewing their proposed
combination of sites for release and establishing whether they would fundamentally undermine the remaining
Green Belt. Identification of an area of fundamental importance may not, however, mean that these areas
cannot accommodate some development, and it will be for the District Council to undertake a balanced
judgement based on the scale and location of the proposed land for release.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 15(]1 Page 36



Appendices

A.1  Review of recent appeals

It is useful and necessary to examine case law as it provides guidance on the interpretation of key
terms/concepts within the NPPF, hence increasing the robustness of the study as a whole. It is important to
consider the impact of these judgements on Green Belt Assessment methodologies and approaches since
Inspectors may consider this at Independent Examination as was the case in North Hertfordshire, where the
council was asked to review Green Belt outcomes with respect to recent judgements.

A11 Spatial and Visual Openness

Paragraph 142 of the NPPF states that one of the fundamental characteristics of the Green Belt is its
openness. The PPG states that openness consists of both visual and spatial aspects, and that the degree of
activity on a site can also impact overall openness. There have been various appeals that have highlighted the
important considerations surrounding the interpretation of ‘openness of the Green Belt’ and are therefore
relevant to the assessment of the land against Green Belt purposes.

The Turner judgement (2016)?® highlighted important considerations on openness. It states that the concept

of openness should not be limited to a volumetric approach comparing the size, mass and physical effect of
openness before and after development. Greenness is also a visual quality, and the preservation of the visual
openness should also be considered.

‘There is an important visual dimension to checking “the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas” and the
merging of neighbouring towns, as indeed the name “Green Belt” itself implies. Greenness is a visual quality:
part of the idea of the Green Belt is that the eye and the spirit should be relieved from the prospect of
unrelenting urban sprawl. Openness of aspect is a characteristic quality of the countryside, and “safeguarding
the countryside from encroachment” includes preservation of that quality of openness. The preservation of “the
setting ... of historic towns” obviously refers in a material way to their visual setting, for instance when seen
from a distance across open fields.’

Appeal cases in Three Rivers?® and Cheshire West and Chester®° further highlight the need to carefully
consider ‘openness’. In the former case, the Inspector concluded the proposal for three dwellings should be
allowed as it constituted limited infill development in a village and formed appropriate Green Belt
development, therefore the impact of the proposal on openness did not need to be assessed. However, that
being said, the Inspector concluded that, regardless, any possible impact on openness would be offset by the
removal of an existing structure with a similar footprint to the proposed development.

‘I therefore conclude that the proposal would constitute limited infill within a village and would therefore not
be inappropriate development within the Green Belt. Accordingly, there is no need to examine if very special
circumstances exist to outweigh any harm arising from inappropriateness. ...

In view of my finding that the proposal is not inappropriate development, the impact on openness does not fall
to be formally considered, but the impact of proposal on the openness of the Green Belt would be offset to a
large degree by the removal of the barn that has a similar footprint to the proposed houses.’

A case in Cheshire West and Chester concerned plans for a new home to be developed on previously
developed land designated as Green Belt. The site concerned was a builder’s yard on the edge of a washed
over village. The Inspector concluded that it could not be considered infill development, given that it was

2 Turner v Secretary of State CLG and East Dorset Council (2016) EWHC 2728 (Admin)
» Planning Inspectorate (2018) Appeal Ref: APP / P1940/W/17/3183388 — Clovercourt Ltd v Three Rivers District

Council

3 The Planning Inspectorate (2018) Appeal Ref: APP/ A0665/ W/ 17/3190601 — Clegg v Cheshire

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:ué 2p0rt Page 37



widely spaced from neighbouring houses and had frontages onto different roads. Further the development
would urbanise the site and its surroundings, thereby diminishing the openness of Green Belt. The appeal
was accordingly dismissed as follows.

‘Indeed, in line with the 2016 Turner v Secretary of State and East Dorset Council judgement the concept of
openness should not be limited to a volumetric approach comparing the size, mass and physical effect of
openness before and after development. Such an approach would be far too simplistic and ignore the wider
aspects of openness which goes beyond the physical effect of buildings or structures. Factors relevant include
how built-up the Green Belt is now and how built-up would it be after development has taken place.
Consequently, although it may be accepted that the proposal to redevelop a brownfield site may result in a
reduced volume and footprint compared to the buildings and structures currently in place, there are wider
factors that must be taken into account in defining the effect of the proposal on openness.

In assessing the matter of openness there are a number of ways of determining whether there would be
encroachment into the Green Belt. The effect of development as encroachment on the countryside may be in
the form of loss of openness or intrusion. The Framework identifies that openness is an essential characteristic
of the Green Belt.’

The Secretary of State®' approved plans to build a replacement secondary school and new homes on land
designated as Green Belt east of Guildford, after ruling that ‘very special circumstances’ had been
demonstrated. He agreed with the Inspector that the scheme represented a significant development in the
Green Belt which would, inevitably and significantly reduce its openness and would erode the open context
of the village. Noting the substantial harm to the Green Belt, however, he ruled that the provision of new
housing and a new school carried greater weight.

The Inspector’s note*? for this appeal highlighted some key considerations in relation to Green Belt, which
are relevant to this assessment:

e The two essential attributes of the Green Belt are its permanence and openness, in line with NPPF
(paragraph 142);

o The key element to assess is the effect that a development has on the openness of the Green Belt;
The ’concept of ‘openness’ is generally considered to be land being free from built development.’; and

o Although openness should be assessed on an individual site/area basis, the cumulative impact on the
Green Belt of development on adjacent sites/areas should be considered.

The Supreme Court in R (Samuel Smith Old Brewery (Tadcaster) and others) v North Yorkshire County
Council [2020] UKSC 33 has provided important clarity as to the interpretation of the openness of the Green
Belt and the relationship between ‘openness’ and ‘visual impact’ within the planning judgement of the
decision maker. The judgment highlighted the important distinction in planning decisions between planning
judgement and legal interpretation of planning policy. While visual impact may in the context of a particular
case be judged a relevant factor by a decision maker in assessing openness of the Green Belt it, in itself, will
not be a strict nor mandatory determinative factor.

On the interpretation of ‘openness’ and the issue of ‘visual impact’ it was noted that:

“The concept of “openness” in para 90 of the NPPF [now para 142] seems to me a good example of such a
broad policy concept. It is naturally read as referring back to the underlying aim of Green Belt policy, stated at
the beginning of this section: “to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open ...”. Openness is the
counterpart of urban sprawl and is also linked to the purposes to be served by the Green Belt. As PPG2 made
clear, it is not necessarily a statement about the visual qualities of the land, though in some cases this may be
an aspect of the planning judgement involved in applying this broad policy concept. Nor does it imply freedom
from any form of development.’

3! Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Secretary of State (2018) Town and Country Planning Act
1990 — Section 78 Appeal Made by Berkley Homes (Southern) Ltd and The Howard Partnership Trust

32 The Planning Inspectorate (2017) Report to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 Guildford Borough Council Appeal by Berkley Homes (Southern) Ltd and the Howard
Partnership Trust, APP/ Y3615/W/16/3151098

3 https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2018-0077.html

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 153 Page 38



Importantly, the Supreme Court reinforced the importance of planning judgement within the role of the
decision maker by stating:

‘[Openness] is a matter not of legal principle but of planning judgement for the planning authority or the
inspector.

In appeal decision APP/M3645/W/24/3354630 (14" March 2025)3* the appellant’s site was in use as a
storage yard for construction materials, equipment and machinery and the inspector adjudged that the
intensity of activity and use meant that the site’s existing state made a limited contribution to Green Belt
openness. In addition, the inspector noted that hedgerows around the site formed a defensible boundary
which screened views of the storage yard, resulting in negligible impacts on visual openness.

In contrast, appeal APP/C4615/W/24/3345744 (2™ April 2025)3° was dismissed by the inspector as it was
adjudged that existing mature planting around the site perimeter was insufficient to screen the proposed
development from adjacent rights of way, and that the proposed battery storage system would therefore be
visually intrusive in its rural location.

A further lesson from the judgement of Baroness Taylor in appeal APP/P1940/W/24/3346061 (12" May
2025),%¢ within Three Rivers District, is the confirmation that substantial weight does not have to be given to
any harm to the Green Belt deriving from harm to its openness where a proposed development is not
inappropriate in the Green Belt (in this case a large data centre deemed to be on grey belt). The ruling also
confirms that country parks (one element of the development proposal) preserve openness providing there is
not significant built development on them.

A.1.2 Definition of Sustainable Locations

Paragraph 155 of the NPPF sets out four criteria that, if all met, would make any development appropriate in
the Green Belt. Criterion (¢) of paragraph 155 is that the development would be in a sustainable location,
with reference to paragraphs 110 and 115. These paragraphs have a focus on access to sustainable transport
and active travel modes; paragraph 110 states that “development should be focused on locations which are or
can be made sustainable through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport
modes”. Paragraph 115 requires that in assessing development sites it should be ensured that sustainable
transport modes are prioritised, and that safe and suitable access to the site is available for all users.

In C Hall’s judgement in appeal APP/T2215/W/24/3354290 (26" February 2025)%’, the inspector determined
that one of the core principles of the Framework is to “actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest
possible use of public transport, walking and cycling”, and that the nine dwellings proposed on the
appellant’s site at Newington Farm would be highly reliant on private cars due to limited access to local
services and facilities by other transport modes. The inspector therefore dismissed the appeal, judging that
the site was not in a sustainable location and did not satisfy the criteria in paragraph 155(c).

This point of view was also advanced by A Knight in their judgement in appeal APP/B1930/W/24/3342701
(3" February 2025)3®. In this case the site was determined to be in a sustainable location, satisfying
paragraph 155 criterion (c), due to suitable access to public transport as the site had good pedestrian
connections to local bus networks.

The judgement of A Wright in appeal APP/B1930/W/24/3349988 (19" March 2025)* builds on this
principle. The appellant’s site was within 650m of the nearest bus stop, and the inspector determined that
local facilities and services could be accessed within acceptable, comfortable or realistic walking distances as

34 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3354630&ColD=0

35 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3345744&ColD=0

36 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6821f977c66deec8488f7f42/Recovered _appeal -

land off Bedmond Road Abbots Langley.pdf

37 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3354290& ColD=0

38 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3342701&ColD=0

39 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3349988& ColD=0

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:iféﬂport Page 39


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3354630&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3345744&CoID=0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6821f977c66deec8488f7f42/Recovered_appeal_-_land_off_Bedmond_Road__Abbots_Langley.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6821f977c66deec8488f7f42/Recovered_appeal_-_land_off_Bedmond_Road__Abbots_Langley.pdf
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3354290&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3342701&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3349988&CoID=0

outlined in the Manual for Streets and other guidance. However, the inspector judged that the rural, unlit
nature of the route and distances to bus stops and services did not satisfactorily meet the criteria of being
accessible to all, or at all times (as outlined in NPPF paragraph 115), therefore making the site not
sustainable under paragraph 155 criterion (c).

The judgement of Baroness Taylor in appeal APP/P1940/W/24/3346061 (12 May 2025),* within Three
Rivers District, builds on this principle. Baroness Taylor took in to account the definition of the nearby
settlement, Abbots Langley, in the Core Strategy Spatial Strategy, as one of six key centres in the District.
The fact that the Spatial Strategy describes these centres as the most sustainable locations in the District
constituted a reason to describe the site as sustainable. Additionally, Baroness Taylor noted that the Council
had already considered and stated the site as appropriate for housing and that were housing to be delivered
here it would be seen as sustainably located on the edge of a growth settlement, further influencing the
judgement that the proposed development was in a sustainable location.

A13 Grey Belt in unsustainable locations

In the Newington Farm decision APP/T2215/W/24/3354290 (26" Feb 2025)* noted above, the appeal was
dismissed due to the site being in an unsustainable location. This decision was made despite the site being
identified as grey belt land. The inspector adjudged that the site did not contribute to purpose (a), (b) or (d),
and additionally that as it was contained within the boundary of an existing farm which included existing
buildings and hardstanding, it made a limited contribution to openness. As such it did not fundamentally
undermine the performance of the wider Green Belt. Being in an unsustainable location due to distance from
local services and public transport options however made development inappropriate.

Similarly, Inspector D Lewis judged in appeal decision APP/Z0116/W/24/3342877 (26™ Mar 2025)** that a
site proposed for development was not in a sustainable location and moreover its location could not be made
sustainable. Although the site was agreed by all parties to be grey belt land, not performing strongly against
any of the purposes (a), (b), or (d), the unsustainability of the location was determined to render the proposal
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, and the appeal was dismissed.

A1.4 Definition of Towns and Sprawl

NPPF paragraphs 143(b) and (d) state that the purposes of the Green Belt are to prevent neighbouring towns
merging into one another, and to preserve the setting of historic towns. There is no definition given in the
NPPF as to what constitutes a ‘town’, but some recent appeal decisions provide some guidance.

In appeal APP/D3640/W/24/3347530 (12" March 2025)*, an inspector ruled that the settlements of Bagshot
and Windlesham did not constitute towns, being instead “villages of varying scales”, and that the appellant’s
site which fell in between the two settlements therefore did not play a role with respect to paragraph 143(b).
Both Bagshot and Windlesham had been defined as towns in the LPA’s GBA, but the inspector ruled that
this carried less weight than the council’s Core Strategy, in which the settlement hierarchy defined Bagshot
as a large village and Windlesham as a smaller village. The inspector also opined that even if both
settlements were considered towns, that the parcel of land in their view would not materially erode the gap
between them if released for development. Given that the site did not play a role with regards to paragraph
143(Db), the inspector determined that it constituted grey belt land.

The judgement in appeal APP/H2265/W/24/3347410 (13" February 2025)* also provides guidance on the
interpretation of Green Belt purposes with regard to preventing urban sprawl and the merging of
neighbouring towns. The appellant’s site was argued by the council to play a role in preventing urban sprawl

0 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68211977c66decc848817f42/Recovered_appeal -
_land_off Bedmond Road _Abbots_Langley.pdf

41

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3354290&ColD=0
42 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3342877&ColD=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3347530&ColD=0

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3347410&ColD=0

43

44

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Paglel 155 Page 40


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6821f977c66deec8488f7f42/Recovered_appeal_-_land_off_Bedmond_Road__Abbots_Langley.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6821f977c66deec8488f7f42/Recovered_appeal_-_land_off_Bedmond_Road__Abbots_Langley.pdf
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3354290&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3342877&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?Caseid=3347530&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3347410&CoID=0

as the proposals would contribute to ribbon development along the A20, however the inspector judged that
paragraph 143(a) refers only to the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas. The nearest settlement
(Wrotham) was judged to be a village and therefore not of relevance to this purpose, so the inspector
determined that although the site would contribute to ribbon development, this did not amount to the
unrestricted sprawl of a large built-up area. The same appeal judgement also stated that London is the most
relevant large built-up area in this case with respect to paragraph 143(a), and that the site in question
therefore did not perform strongly against this purpose.

In appeal APP/G5180/W/24/3354266 (315" March 2025)*, the inspector judged that the neighbouring
settlements of Chislehurst, Bickley and Petts Wood had the character of local centres rather than distinct
towns as they have significantly merged. As such the appellant’s site had an essentially suburban setting, and
could not be considered to play a role with regards to preventing neighbouring towns from merging. Given
this context, the inspector additionally judged that the site could not play a role in preserving the setting or
special of historic towns and the site did not fulfil the purposes set out in paragraphs 143(b) or (d).

In appeal APP/M1520/W/24/3351658 (15™ April 2025) the Inspector acknowledged that the settlement of
Daws Heath in Essex had been classed as a town in the latest GBA and a village in other development plan
documents. The Inspector deemed Daws Heath to be a village for the purposes of judging an appeal site
close to the settlement on the basis stated that as services and facilities are limited and Daws Heath is not of a
large scale, it must be considered a village. The Inspector reiterated that the appeal site could not, therefore,
contribute to purposes (a) or (b) given this relates to large built-up areas and towns rather than villages.

A1.5 Scale, granularity and proportionality of assessment parcels

In determining a series of six appeals — APP/H1515/W/24/3341474-79 (16™ Jan 2025) ¢ — Inspector T
Gilbert-Wooldridge noted that all parties to the appeals agreed that the six parcels of land in question would
not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the plan area.
The reasoning behind this was that the parcels were small in size compared to the ‘considerable extent’ of
the Green Belt across the borough (Brentwood). The inspector adjudged that the sites’ scale caused them to
make no more than a limited contribution to checking the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas.

Additionally, the inspector stated the following: “Looking at parcels is helpful in a strategic sense to inform
plan-making and future development growth. However, for decision making, it seems more relevant to look
at a site-specific level for determining grey belt land, otherwise the scale could be too large and skewed by
land some distance from the actual site”. This aligns with the text of the Green Belt PPG, which indicates
that, when identifying grey belt land, using a small number of large parcels will generally not be an
appropriate approach and assessment areas should be sufficiently granular to enable their varied
contributions to the Green Belt purposes to be functionally determined.

In the Wrotham appeal covered above — APP/H2265/W/24/3347410 (13™ Feb 2025)*” — the inspector noted
that the proposal would represent an irreversible encroachment of built form into open and undeveloped
countryside. However, it was adjudged that the site’s area would be small in relation to the totality of the
Green Belt within the borough, and that it would therefore not fundamentally undermine the purposes of the
Green Belt across the local authority area. As in the Brentwood example, the local authority in this instance
(Tonbridge & Malling) was covered by over 70% Green Belt by total area, resulting in the impact of the
release of a small land parcel being judged to be proportionally much less significant.

A similar conclusion was reached in the Dacorum appeal — App/A1910/W/24/3345435% (5™ Aug 2025)
where the Inspector concluded that the appeal site did not have a wider strategic role in the functioning of the
borough’s Green Belt as a whole. Therefore, the proposal would not fundamentally undermine the purposes
(taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the Borough’s development plan area.

4 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3354266&ColD=0

46 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx ?fileid=60702043

47 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaselD=3347410&ColD=0

8 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx ?caseid=3345435

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag e:ué 6p0rt Page 41


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3354266&CoID=0
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?fileid=60702043
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3347410&CoID=0

A.1.6 Footnote 7 land

A further lesson to be drawn from the Wrotham appeal — APP/H2265/W/24/3347410 (13" Feb 2025)* — is
that the presence of a footnote 7 designation on a site does not automatically mean a proposal will be
refused. The site in question was within the Kent Downs National Landscape, but the inspector adjudged that
the proposal would only have a “limited and localised” impact on the protected landscape, therefore not
providing the ‘strong reason’ for refusal required by paragraph 006 of the Green Belt PPG.

4 ibid.

Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag@l 151 Page 42


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3347410&CoID=0

A2

Parcel ID

Purpose A

Purpose B

Purpose C

Purpose D

Purpose E

TRDC Stage 2 Parcels: Assessment Data Table

Provisional
Grey Belt

AL1 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
AL2 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact significant impact impact
impact
AL3 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
AL4 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
AL5 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
ALB Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
AL7 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
AL8 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
AL9 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant significant significant impact impact
impact impact impact
BM1 Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
BM2 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact limited impact impact impact
BM3 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
BM4 Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
BM5 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
BM6 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
BM7 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
BM8 Moderate Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
BM9 Relatively Moderate Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact impact impact impact
impact
BWA1 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
BW10 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
BW2 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
BW3 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
BW4 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant limited impact significant impact impact
impact impact
BW5 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact significant impact impact
impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Sta;

Page:ié

¢ 4 Green Belt Review

Bor

Page 43



ParcelID Purpose A PurposeB PurposeC PurposeD Purpose E Provisional
Grey Belt
BW8 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact limited impact impact impact
BW9 Moderate Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact limited impact impact impact
CG1 Moderate Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
CG10 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact significant impact impact
impact
Significant Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact limited impact impact impact impact
Significant Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant impact impact impact
impact
Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant significant significant impact impact
impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant impact impact impact
impact
Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant impact impact impact
impact
CG6 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
CG7 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant significant significant impact impact
impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
CH2 Relatively Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact impact impact impact
Significant Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant impact impact impact
impact
Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
CH5 Relatively Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact impact impact impact
CH6 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Limited to no Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
Relatively Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
significant significant impact impact impact
impact impact
Significant Moderate Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
KL3 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
KL4 Moderate Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
KL5 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
LwWA1 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

Page &2

Page 44



ParcelID Purpose A PurposeB PurposeC PurposeD Purpose E Provisional
Grey Belt
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
LW9 Relatively Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact impact impact impact
MC1 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
MC10 Relatively Relatively Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
significant limited impact impact impact impact
impact
MC11 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
MC2 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact significant impact impact
impact
MC3 Relatively Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact impact impact impact
MC4 Moderate Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
MC6 Relatively Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact impact impact impact
MC7 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact significant impact impact
impact
MC8 Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
MC9 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact significant impact impact
impact
ND1 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant limited impact significant impact impact
impact impact
ND10 Moderate Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact
ND11 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant significant impact impact
impact impact
ND12 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
ND2 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
ND3 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
ND6 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
ND9 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

Page60

port



ParcelID Purpose A PurposeB PurposeC PurposeD Purpose E Provisional
Grey Belt
RWA1 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
RW10 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no No
significant significant impact impact impact
impact impact
RW13 Relatively Significant Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
RwW14 Relatively Moderate Moderate Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact impact impact impact
impact
RW15 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
RwW2 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
RW3 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
RwW4 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
RW5 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
RW6 Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
RwW7 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
RW8 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
RW9 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant limited impact significant impact impact
impact impact
SO5 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
Significant Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
SO8 Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
S09 Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
WE1 Limited to no Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact limited impact impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact limited impact impact impact impact
Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
WE4 Relatively Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact impact impact impact
WES Moderate Significant Moderate Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
WEG6 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant impact impact impact
impact
WE7 Moderate Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
impact significant significant impact impact
impact impact
WES8 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
WE9 Relatively Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact impact impact impact
impact
WN10 Moderate Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact significant impact impact
impact

Three Rivers District Council

| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited

Stage 4 Green Belt Review

Page 6l

Page 46



ParcelID Purpose A PurposeB PurposeC PurposeD Purpose E Provisional
Grey Belt
WN4 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
WN5 Relatively Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact impact impact impact
WN6 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WN7 Moderate Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact limited impact impact impact
WN8 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WN9 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
limited impact significant limited impact impact impact
impact
WS1 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WS2 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
WS3 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WS4 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact limited impact limited impact impact impact
WS5 Relatively Relatively Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant limited impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WS6 Relatively Significant Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WS7 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
Ww2 Relatively Moderate Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
WW3 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no No
significant impact significant impact impact
impact impact
Significant Significant Limited to no Limited to no No
impact impact impact impact impact
Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
WW6 Moderate Limited to no Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact impact impact impact impact
WW7 Relatively Limited to no Relatively Limited to no Limited to no Yes
limited impact impact limited impact impact impact
Ww8 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
WW9 Moderate Relatively Moderate Limited to no Limited to no Yes
impact limited impact impact impact impact
Three Rivers District Council Stage 4 Green Belt Review
| |25 September 2025 | Ove Arup & Partners Limited Pag eﬁlé 2p0rt

Page 47



Three Rivers District Council

Sub-Committee
Report

8 October 2025

THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL



1.1

1.2

2.2

3.2

3.3

3.4

LOCAL PLAN SUB COMMITTEE - 8 October 2025

PART |

Settlement Appraisal 2025
(DoF)

Summary

This report provides an overview of the draft 2025 Settlement Appraisal
(Appendix 1) prepared to assist with the formulation of the Local Plan.

The report and draft Settlement Appraisal are only for noting at this stage as
further work is required to be undertaken.

Background

The settlement pattern of Three Rivers in reflective of its close proximity to
London; a spatially dense network of villages and small towns, largely separated
by the Green Belt that has prevented coalescence. However, sustainable
transport and development has its challenges, due to the predominantly low-
density housing stock, little opportunity for development in the urban areas and
often narrow/minor road network upon leaving the built-up areas.

This appraisal seeks to characterise and categorise the settlements within the
district. It includes the grouping of the settlements into a named hierarchy based
on a mix of access to services, sustainable transport and population.

Settlement Appraisal 2025

This document has been produced to support the council in its strategy to
promote a sustainable pattern of development and is assessed against the latest
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2024) and latest Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG). It should be noted that the primary purpose of this evidence is
to support local plan preparation, however, it may also be used to assist in
decision making.

The NPPF sets out that plans should promote a sustainable pattern of
development that seeks to meet the development needs of their area. The PPG
identifies the importance of a settlement hierarchy and in particular that a wide
range of settlements can play a role in delivering sustainable development in
rural areas.

As well as undertaking an exercise to inform the sustainability of settlements,
this document was considered an appropriate vehicle for an update in settlement
terminology, partly as a result of recent clarification in the planning policy
guidance on the merging of settlements in the Green Belt. Under the guidance
on Purpose B to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another, it has
now been clarified that this purpose relates to towns and not villages. Therefore,
clarification on the definition of a town or village was considered appropriate.

This study was subsequently undertaken with intention of supporting the above
guidance, by keeping our settlement information up to date and redefining our
settlement hierarchy to make it relate to national policy more clearly and
therefore aid our local plan work and decision-making.

Page 64



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

5.1

6.1

To assess the sustainability of a settlement, the study assigned 8 key services
to each settlement. A maximum score of 3 was given to a service within the
settlement, with a sliding scale going away from the settlement boundary

The second part was to assess the transport options in respect of road
infrastructure (higher the highest road classification, the higher the score) the
bus service scored on regularity of service and whether there was a train station
(scored the same way as the services. The combination of these scores were
then tallied, and depending on how well the settlements scored, they were
categorised as ‘Very Good’ ‘Good’ ‘Fair’ or ‘Poor’. The full methodology is within
the main document in Appendix 1.

A combination of population and sustainability score was used to create our
initial settlement hierarchy terminology. Although generally the higher the
population, the better the sustainability categorisation, or vice-versa, this was
not always the case. Some smaller settlements by population performed better
on sustainability than would be expected and some larger settlements scored
lower. The highest three categories for the settlement hierarchy are ‘Principal
Town’ Small Town/Large Suburban Settlement and Large Village/Suburban
Settlement. This reflects the distinctive geography of the area where we have
many settlements that are contiguous with London or Watford and difficult to
term strictly as a separate town or village.

Initial findings are that the settlements scoring ‘Very Good’ in sustainability terms
are Rickmansworth, Chorleywood, South Oxhey, Croxley Green and Leavesden
and Garston. The Principal Town is Rickmansworth and the Small Towns are
Chorleywood, South Oxhey, Croxley Green and Abbots Langley.

It must however be highlighted that this document is a work in progress. The
results are draft only and scoring or thresholds for categories may be subject to
revision. Also, only settlements as far down as what were considered to be
Service Centres (Tier 3) have been assessed so far. All other settlements with
100 residents and above will be assessed in the near future.

Policy/Budget Reference and Implications

The recommendations in this report are within the council’s agreed policy and
the report has been undertaken in-house, so there are no external budget
implications.

Financial, Legal, Staffing, Equal Opportunities, Environmental,
Community Safety, Public Health, Customer Services Centre,
Communications & Website, Risk Management and Health & Safety
Implications

None specific.
Recommendation

That the Local Plan Sub-Committee note this report and the draft findings of the
settlement appraisal document.

Background Papers

National Planning Policy Framework (2024)

Page 65



Planning Practice Guidance (2024)

Appendices
Appendix 1 — Settlement Appraisal (2025)

Report prepared by: Martin Ross Principal Planning Policy Consultant

Page 66



THREE RIVERS
DISTRICT COUNCIL




This page is intentionally left blank



THREE RIVERS
SETTLEMENT
APPRAISAL

October 2025

THREE RIVERS
S DISTRICT COUNCIL

Page 69



Contents:

1) Policy and Context: Page 3

2) Methodology: Page 5

3) Settlement Appraisal: Page 7

4) Settlement Sustainability Page 16
5) Settlement Hierarchy: Page 18

6) Conclusion: Page 23

Page 70



1: Policy & Context

This study has been produced as evidence to support the preparation of the emerging
Three Rivers Local Plan. This study will consider facilities/services, provision of
sustainable transport methods and population sizes across the district’s settlements. It
will also assist in the formulation of the settlement hierarchy, defining and categorising
the settlements for policy application.

The standard method stipulates that Three Rivers District Council need to provide 832
new homes per annum between 2026 and 2041, a figure that risen dramatically since
the current plan requirement of 180 dwellings per annum.

The Local Plan will set out the spatial strategy and planning framework for Three Rivers,
and will provide the broad framework for locating future growth and development before
identifying specific sites for development.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The ‘golden thread’ running through the NPPF is one of sustainable development and
this document provides a key element to guide the process of plan-making.

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out the economic, social and environmental objectives of
sustainable development and in paragraph 9 highlights that they should be delivered
‘through the preparation and implementation of plans and the application of the policies
in this Framework’.

The presumption in favour of sustainable development (Paragraph 11) applies in plan-
making, just as it does with decision- taking. National policy requires that:

‘all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the
development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the
environment; mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in
urban areas) and adapt to its effects’

Further to this, b) states that strategic policies should provide for objectively assessed
need unless application of policy protecting areas or assets of particularimportance
provides a strong reason for restricting development, or adverse impacts of doing so
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, assessed against the
policies in the framework as a whole.

Paragraph 16 sets out that plans should be prepared with the objective of contributing
to the achievement of sustainable development.

Spatially, Paragraph 23 states that broad locations should be indicated on key diagrams
and land use on a policies map and that the policies in relation to this should have a
clear strategy for bringing land forward at a sufficient rate to address the objectively
assessed need over the plan period.

For Rural Housing, Paragraph 82 suggests that policies should be responsive to local
circumstances, including community-led housing and opportunities to bring forward
rural exception sites, while considering whether allowing some market homes would
help facilitate this. Paragraph 83 states that housing should be located where it shall
enhance or maintain community facilities and identify opportunities for villages to grow

3
Page 71



and thrive, particularly when supporting local services. Further to this, it is suggested
that in groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support services
in a village nearby.

In relation to the role of town centres, Paragraph 90 states that policies should support
their role at the heart of local communities and; ‘define a network and hierarchy of town
centres and promote their long-term vitality and viability — by allowing them to grow and
diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries,
allows a suitable mix of uses (including housing) and reflects their distinctive
characters;’ It also recognises residential development plays an importantrole in
ensuring the vitality of town centres.

In relation to ‘Promoting healthy and safe communities’, Paragraph 98 ensure an
integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and
community facilities and services.’

On the matter of sustainable transport, Paragraph 110 states that ‘Significant
development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable,
through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes’

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

There is very little guidance in the Planning Practice Guidance relating to settlement
hierarchy, however, paragraph 67-009-020190722 identifies the importance of
understanding the settlement hierarchy, and in particular that a wide range of
settlements can play a role in delivering sustainable development in rural areas.

Three Rivers Settlement Appraisal

As part of the process to identify sustainable locations for potential future development
in Three Rivers, an appraisal has been carried out for settlements in the district of over
100 people. Settlement appraisal and hierarchical definitions may provide a basis for
future strategy through identifying the intended role, function and aims of different
settlements and is supported by Paragraph 32 of the NPPF, which states that the
preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant and up to date
evidence.

This evidence paper examines the extent to which settlements in Three Rivers presently
display the characteristics of sustainable communities and will assess the suitability of
settlements for the accommodation of plan led growth in terms of existing levels of
sustainability and any benefits of planned growth on the sustainability of settlements.
This, coupled with an assessment of settlement population and transport
infrastructure, will result in the formulation of a hierarchy of settlements.

Page 72



2: Methodology

Settlements located wholly within the boundaries of Three Rivers, and settlements
located partially within Three Rivers and partially within one of the adjoining local
authorities have been assessed. The settlement of Grove Mill has not been included
further in the appraisal as the area of settlement within Three Rivers is extremely
limited. Watford is classed as one settlement and effectively extends into Three Rivers
in both the north and south. For the purposes of this appraisal, these areas have been
assessed as ‘Leavesden and Garston’, ‘Oxhey Hall’ and ‘South Oxhey’. The settlements
are mapped in Appendix 2.

The settlement boundaries were originally determined by Hertfordshire County Council
and amended to reflect the distinction between Rickmansworth and Mill End, and the
parts of Watford that fall within Three Rivers. Further to this, the boundary between
Chorleywood and Rickmansworth has been altered to reflect the historic parish
boundary of Chorleywood’s eastern extent, rather than the arbitrary line of the M25,
which came later than most of the housing. The geographical centre of each settlement
was then plotted.

The facilities within each settlement were identified and recorded. Where there is no
facility within a settlement, the nearest facility by road is recorded together with the
distance by road from the settlement centre. The facilities assessed were primary
school; secondary school; GP surgery; convenience store or supermarket; post office;
library; pharmacy; open space; and community leisure facility, while access to services
was assessed through provision of road infrastructure, bus services and railway
services.

Leisure Facilities include Leisure Centres, Golf Courses (both public and private)
playing fields and open spaces with sports pitches and/or MUGA’s.

Community Centres/Village Halls include a range of public use buildings that can be
used for booking and hire by the community for a range of activities.

The boundary of each settlement is hand drawn around the individual settlements and
uses Census data to calculate the populations within the polygon. This has then been
rounded up to the nearest 100. Accurately recorded populations were not easily
attainable, as they are wards or parishes that included whole or parts of other
settlements and we wanted to record individual settlements. Environmental constraints
to further development considerations have also been recorded.

In order to determine levels of access to services, it is necessary to measure the
distance between homes and services, under which the service may be considered
accessible. We have defined reasonable access distance to community facilities by
using set distances with lower and upper thresholds consistent with the method used
to assess the sustainability of sites for our Strategic Housing and Employment Land
Availability Assessments (SHELAAs) and with our previous version of the Settlement
Appraisal for consistency.

Newer guidance on this has been reviewed, such as the ‘Active Travel England Standing
Advice Note: Active Travel and Sustainable Development’ from June 2024 and Sustrans

Page 73



‘Walkable Neighbourhoods’ Report, published in May 2022, but these does not conflict
with, or substantially deviate from, previous guidance and policy.

Our guidance sets out that important facilities/services to which people can usually be
expected to walk to, should be a maximum of 400m away. Local facilities which are
ideally accessible by foot should be a maximum of 800m away. Local facilities to which
itis not reasonable to expect all people to walk to, but which could be walked to by
those who choose should be a maximum of 1600m away. Facilities which are less local
but should be within cycling distance should preferably be within cycling distance
should be within 5000m, and no more than 8000m away. The table below sets out the
lower distance and upper distance thresholds for the different types of facilities as
mentioned above.

Table 1: Threshold Distances

FACILITY LOWER DISTANCE UPPER DISTANCE
THESHOLD THRESHOLD

Primary School 400m 800m
Secondary School 1600m 3200m

GP 800m 1600m
Convenience Store 800m 1600m

Post Office 800m 1600m
Library 800m 1600m
Pharmacy 800m 1600m
Open Space 400m 800m
Community Leisure Facility 1600m 3200m

Rail Station 800m 1600m
Community Centre/Village Hall | 800m 1600m

Bus services have been recorded where they are present within the settlement, together
with the route number, route extent, and service recurrence between the hours of 7-
10am (one direction only). Road infrastructure has been approached in a similar way;
recorded only when it is within the specific settlement. Rail services have also been
recorded with service provider, route extent and recurrence.

The assessment of key facilities is based on the core assumption that greater
availability of key facilities, services and infrastructure within a settlement increases the
sustainability of a settlement.

The tables in section 3 have been presented according to the distance to facilities from
the settlement centre according to the classification set outin table 2.

Page 74



Table 2: Recording of settlement accessibility according to the distance to facilities

Facility within settlement
Facility within lower distance threshold
Facility within upper distance threshold

Facility outside upper distance threshold ;

3: Settlement Appraisal

Abbots Langley

POPULATION C.9200

PRIMARY SCHOOL Tanners Wood JMI School, Divine Saviour RC JMI,
Abbots Langley JMI

SECONDARY SCHOOL Francis Coombe School (2438m)

GP SURGERY Vine House Health Centre

CONVENIENCE STORE Six recorded locations within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within

SPACE settlement

SPORTS FACILITY Five recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY Abbots Langley Library

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL Abbots Langley Community Centre, Tanners Wood
Hall

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE Served by C Classified roads

BUS SERVICE (within settlement) | R9 Garston / Chipperfield Daily
H19 Hemel/ Kings Langley Daily
329 Mapel Cross / Hemel 1 hour
20 Watford / Hemel 30 mins

RAIL STATION

Green Belt surrounding settlement, public open
space within settlement. West Coast Mainline railway
CONSTRAINTS and Grand Union Canal to west of settlement, M25 to
north of settlement.

Page 75



Carpenders Park

POPULATION C.3700
PRIMARY SCHOOL St Meryl
SECONDARY SCHOOL TTheBusheyAcademy(@614m)
GP SURGERY Attenborough Surgery
CONVENIENCE STORE One recorded location within settlement
PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
SPACE settlement
SPORTS FACILITY One recorded location within settlement
LIBRARY Oxhey Library (1060m)
COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL Carpenders Park Community Hall
ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE Served by A4008 and B4542
BUS SERVICE 346 Northwood / Watford 1 hour
R16 Bushey / Watford Daily
R17 Hatch End / South Oxhey | Daily
RAIL STATION Carpenders Euston/Watford Junction 15 mins
Park (Lioness Line, London
Overground)
Settlement surrounded by Green Belt. Flood zone
running through settlement. Railway line to west and
CONSTRAINTS wildlife site to north of settlement.
Chorleywood
POPULATION C.10,800
PRIMARY SCHOOL Arnett Hill JMI, Christ Church C of E, The Russell
(County) School, Chorleywood JMI
SECONDARY SCHOOL St Clement Danes School
GP SURGERY Chorleywood Medical Centre, Gade Surgery
CONVENIENCE STORE Two recorded locations within settlement
PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
SPACE settlement
SPORTS FACILITY Six recorded locations within settlement
LIBRARY Chorleywood Library
COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL Bullsland Hall, Chorleywood Memorial Hall
ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE Served by M25, A404 and C Classified roads
BUS SERVICE 336 Chorleywood / Bushey 1-2 hours
R2 Chorleywood / Northwood Daily
RAIL STATION Chorleywoo | Aylesbury Vale Parkway / 30 mins
d Station London Marylebone
(Chiltern Railways London -
Aylesbury Line)

Page 76



Amersham and Chesham/
Aldgate (Metropolitan Line,
London Underground)

15 mins

CONSTRAINTS

Green Belt surrounding settlement, conservation areas
and public open space within settlement. Chilterns
AONB to north and M25 to east of settlement.

Croxley Green

POPULATION

c.8800

PRIMARY SCHOOL

Harvey Road JMI, Yorke Mead School, Malvern Way
JMI, Little Green JMI

SECONDARY SCHOOL

Rickmansworth School

GP SURGERY

New Road Surgery, Baldwins Lane Surgery

CONVENIENCE STORE

Eight recorded locations within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

Nine recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY

Croxley Green Library

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

All Saints Church Hall, Croxley Youth Club

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A412 and C Classified roads

BUS SERVICE 322 Rickmansworth / Hemel 30 mins
336 Bushey / Chorleywood 1-2 hours
352 Hemel /Watford 2 hours
724 Heathrow / Harlow 1 hour
725 Heathrow / Stevenage 1 hour
951 Thorpe Park / Borehamwood Daily
R2 Watford / Chorleywood Daily
W1 Maple Cross Daily
RAIL STATION Croxley Watford / Aldgate 15 mins
(Metropolitan Line, London
Underground)

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt, on boundary
with Watford Borough Council, flood zone east of
settlement. Conservation area, wildlife sites and
public open space within settlement.

Page 77




Eastbury

POPULATION c.5400
PRIMARY SCHOOL Eastbury Farm JMI
SECONDARY SCHOOL Northwood School (3052m)
GP SURGERY Eastbury Surgery (1245m)

CONVENIENCE STORE

Leverstock Green (1488m)

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

St Helens School Sports Centre (1755m)

LIBRARY

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

Oxhey Hall Community Association (2810m)

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A4125 and B4542

BUS SERVICE 328 Watford / Mount Vernon 1 hour
Hospital
346 Abbots Langley / Bushey 1 hour
RAIL STATION Northwood Watford, Amersham, 10 mins
Underground | Chesham / Aldgate
Station (Metropolitan Line, London
Underground)

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement constrained by Green Belt to north and
west. Boundary with London Borough of Hillingdon to
south, and railway line to east of settlement.

King’s Langley
POPULATION ¢.5700 (700 within Three Rivers)
PRIMARY SCHOOL
SECONDARY SCHOOL Kings Langley School (1951m)
GP SURGERY Kings Langley Surgery (1065m)

CONVENIENCE STORE

One recorded location within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

One location within settlement boundary

LIBRARY

Kings Langley Library (959m)

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

Kings Langley Community Centre (928m)

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by C Classified roads

BUS SERVICE R9 Watford / Chipperfield Daily
H19 Hemel / Kings Langley Daily
RAIL STATION Kings Milton Keynes / London Euston | 30 mins
Langley (West Coast Main Line)
Station
10

Page 78



CONSTRAINTS

Settlement on boundary with Dacorum Borough
Council. Green Belt surrounding settlement and
covering north of settlement. Public open space and
archaeological sites within settlement. West Coast
Mainline railway to east of settlement and M25 to
south.

Leavesden and Garston

POPULATION c. 5100
PRIMARY SCHOOL St Catherine of Siena RC JMI
SECONDARY SCHOOL Parmiter's School, St Michael's Catholic High School
GP SURGERY Abbotswood Medical Centre

CONVENIENCE STORE

One recorded location within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

Two recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

Abbots Langley Community Centre (2340m)

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A405 and C Classified roads

BUS SERVICE R9 Garston / Chipperfield Daily
329 Abbots / Watford 1 hour
20 Watford / Hemel 30 mins
725 Harlow / Stevenage 1 hour
724 Heathrow / Harlow 1 hour
635 Hitchin / Watford 1 hour
321 Watford / Luton 30 mins
361 New Greens / Borehamwood Daily

RAIL STATION

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt. Public open
space at northwest of settlement and flood zone to
east.

11

Page 79



Maple Cross

POPULATION c.2000

PRIMARY SCHOOL Maple Cross JMI

SECONDARY SCHOOL The Reach Free School (1534m)

GP SURGERY

CONVENIENCE STORE One recorded location within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN Accessible Public Parks/Gardens within settlement

SPACE

SPORTS FACILITY One recorded location within settlement

LIBRARY Rickmansworth Library (3843m)

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL Maple Cross & West Hyde Community Centre

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE Served by A412 and C Classified road

BUS SERVICE R1 Maple Cross / Watford Daily
R2 Chorleywood / Mount Vernon 2 Daily

Hospital

W1 Maple Cross / Garston Daily
725 Heathrow / Stevenage 1 hour
951 Thorpe Park / Borehamwood Daily
724 Heathrow / Harlow 1 hour

RAIL STATION
Settlement surrounded by Green Belt. Public open

CONSTRAINTS space to east and west of settlement, wildlife site to
north.
12

Page 80



Mill End

POPULATION

c.5100

PRIMARY SCHOOL

Shepherd's JMI and Nursery, St Peter's C of E VA
Primary, St Johns RC Primary

SECONDARY SCHOOL

The Reach Free School (1760m)

GP SURGERY

Gade House, Gade Surgery (1346m)

CONVENIENCE STORE

Five recorded locations within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

Two recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

Mill End Community Centre

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A412

BUS SERVICE R1 Maple Cross / Watford Daily

R2 Chorleywood / Mount 2 Daily
Vernon Hospital
322 Rickmansworth / Hemel 30
mins

724 Heathrow / Harlow 1 hour
725 Heathrow / Stevenage 1 hour
951 Thorpe Park / Borehamwood | Daily
W1 Maple Cross / Garston Daily

RAIL STATION

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt, M25 to
north, flood zones to south, public open space,
and wildlife sites within settlement.

13

Page 81



Moor Park

POPULATION

c.2700

PRIMARY SCHOOL

SECONDARY SCHOOL

GP SURGERY

CONVENIENCE STORE

One recorded location within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Accessible Public Parks/Gardens within settlement

SPROTS FACILITY

LIBRARY

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

One recorded location within settlement

Served by A4145

BUS SERVICE N/a No recorded locations N/a
RAIL STATION Moor Amersham, Chesham and 15 mins
Park Watford/ Aldgate
(Metropolitan Line, London
Underground)

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt, neighbouring
settlement of Eastbury and Boundary with London
Borough of Hillingdon. Conservation area, flood zone
along north and east, railway line to east and

archaeological sites to east and north.

Oxhey Hall
POPULATION c.2700
PRIMARY SCHOOL
SECONDARY SCHOOL Watford Grammar School for Girls (2596m)
GP SURGERY

CONVENIENCE STORE

Eastbury Road Shopping Parade (562m)

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

One recorded location within settlement

LIBRARY

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

Oxhey Hall Community Association

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A4125 and B4542

BUS SERVICE 328 Watford / Mount Vernon 1 hour
Hospital
R16 Bushey / Watford Daily
R17 Hatch End / South Oxhey Daily
RAIL STATION
14

Page 82



CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt. Flood zone to
east, and running through part of settlement. Wildlife
sites and public open space to south.

Rickmansworth

POPULATION c.5700
PRIMARY SCHOOL Rickmansworth Park JMI, St Mary's C of E
SECONDARY SCHOOL St Joan of Arc RC School
GP SURGERY Gade House, The Colne Practice

CONVENIENCE STORE

Six recorded locations within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN
SPACE

Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within
settlement

SPORTS FACILITY

Five recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY

Rickmansworth Library

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL

The Cloisters Town Hall

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

Served by A412, A404, A4145 and C Classified roads

BUS SERVICE 322 Rickmansworth / Hemel 30 mins
336 Bushey / Chorleywood 1-2 hours
724 Heathrow / Harlow 1 hour
725 Heathrow / Stevenage 1 hour
951 Thorpe Park / Borehamwood Daily
R1 Maple Cross / Watford Daily
R2 Chorleywood / Mount Vernon | 2 Daily
Hospital
W1 Maple Cross / Garston Daily
RAIL STATION Rickmans | Aylesbury Vale Parkway / 30 mins
worth London Marylebone (Chiltern
Railways London - Aylesbury
Line)
Amersham and Chesham/ 15 mins
Aldgate (Metropolitan Line,
London Underground)

CONSTRAINTS

Settlement surrounded by Green Belt, flood zones to
east and south, conservation areas, wildlife sites and
public open space within settlement.

15

Page 83




South Oxhey

POPULATION c.13600

PRIMARY SCHOOL StJoseph RC JMI, Warren Dell JMI, Oxhey Wood JMI,
Woodhall JMI, Greenfield JMI

SECONDARVSCHOOL [N

GP SURGERY Pathfinder Practice, The Consulting Rooms, South
Oxhey Surgery

CONVENIENCE STORE Five recorded locations within settlement

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN | Multiple accessible Public Parks/Gardens within

SPACE settlement

SPORTS FACILITY Four recorded locations within settlement

LIBRARY Oxhey Library

COMMUNITY CENTRE/HALL Carpenders Park Community Hall (1100m)

ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE Served by B4542 and a C Classified road

BUS SERVICE R16 Bushey / Watford Daily
R17 Hatch End / South Oxhey Daily
328 Watford / Mount Vernon 1 hour

Hospital

346 Northwood / Watford 1 hour
W19 Watford / Carpenders Park 1 hour

RAIL STATION Carpenders | Euston/Watford Junction 15 mins
Park (Lioness Line, London

Overground)
Green Belt surrounding settlement, local nature
CONSTRAINTS reserve, public open space and wildlife sites to west

of settlement, railway line to east.

4: Settlement Sustainability

Further analysis of settlement sustainability has been carried out through a comparison
of each settlement within Three Rivers. A settlement hierarchy may then be generated
based on sustainability, determined by access to key services and facilities.

This section will score the sustainability of the settlement on a sliding scale that results
in categorisation from very good to poor. Population information and the
interrelationships between settlements is then factored into the hierarchical ordering of
settlements.

In order to assess sustainability, scores have been allocated for each key facility/service
(primary school, secondary school, GP surgery, convenience store, library, publicly
accessible open space, community leisure facility), based on the distance to the
facility/service from the settlement centre, according to the accessibility thresholds set
outinTable 1. The allocation of scores is based on the underlying assumption that
closer proximity to a facility increases accessibility and therefore sustainability.

16
Page 84




Table 3: Scoring of Facilities in relation to settlement

FACILITY LOCATION SCORE
Within settlement 3
Within lower threshold distance 2
Within upper threshold distance 1
Outside upper threshold distance 0

The above scores are averaged to provide an overall score for all facilities within a
settlement (maximum 3).

Table 4: Scoring of infrastructure provision

Bus services and rail stations have been considered separately to allow recognition of
the levels of service provision. Scores for infrastructure have been allocated according
to the criteria in Table 3.

INFRASTRUCTURE PROVISION SCORE

BUS SERVICES Peak time interval 0-30 minutes 1 per service
Peak time interval 30-60 minutes 0.5 per service
Peak time interval 60+ minutes 0.25 per service
No service 0

RAIL STATION Within settlement 3
Within lower threshold distance 2
Within upper threshold distance 1

ROAD Motorway (junction) 2

CLASSIFICATION | A Road 1.5

(Highest serving B Road 1

settlement) C Road 0.5
Unclassified only 0

Since the data considered in determining sustainability provide only an indication,
production of a ‘sustainability score’ would be misleading, so settlements have instead
been placed into broad categories. Settlements may be described as having very good,
good, fair, or poor sustainability, according to their performance in relation of proximity
to facilities/services and infrastructure provision. To avoid the introduction of
subjectivity to the process, all factors have been considered equally, and there has
been no weighting. To place settlements in sustainability category, the average score for
all facilities in a settlement is added to the score for bus service provision to give a
settlement total score which is then used to place settlements into a hierarchy.

17
Page 85



Table 5: Categories of Accessibility

Settlement Total Score

Sustainability Category

8+ Very Good
6-7 Good

5-6 Fair

0-4 Poor

Table 6: Settlement Sustainability Scores/Categories

Settlement Population (approx) Sustainability Category
Rickmansworth 5700 11 (Very good)
South Oxhey 13600 8.375 (Very good)
Croxley Green 8800 12 (Very good)
Chorleywood 10800 8.75 (Very good)
Leavesden and Garston 11.25 (Very good)
Carpenders Park 3700 7.9 (Good)
Eastbury 5100 6.75 (Good)

Mill End 5100 6.125 (Good)
Moor Park 5100 5.125 (Fair)
Maple Cross 2000 5.125 (Fair)
Abbots Langley 9200 5.25 (Fair)

Kings Langley 700(5700) 5.625 (Fair)
Oxhey Hall 2700 4.375 (Fair)

5: Settlement Hierarchy

In terms of the classification of the settlements, this is determined by the settlement
sustainability, particularly in terms of range of facilities/services and an indication of
population size. Because we have several settlements that are connected, the exact
population is often difficult to determine and therefore should not be used as a sole
indicator of where a settlement sits in the hierarchy. Subsequently, the settlements with
the largest populations are the most sustainable, or the most sustainable settlements
have the highest population, but this is not a universal statement.

We also have several settlements that are connected to either Watford or London
Boroughs. These do not comfortably fit into a town or village description, so alternative
names have been given for these settlements to recognise their particular
characteristics.

18
Page 86



Principal Town

Rickmansworth

Rickmansworth has the largest town centre with the widest range of services and best
transport links in the district.

However, the decision to undertake a granular assessment, reflecting historic and
established boundaries, while continuing to recognise the identity of neighbouring
settlements, has resulted in the recorded population of Rickmansworth being much
lower than is often considered as the established population. Reflective of the dense
spatial distribution of the settlement(s), Rickmansworth is often considered to include
Mill End and parts of Chorleywood that are contiguous to the core of the town, as well
as Croxley Green, Batchworth and Loudwater on occasions, where there are barely
distinguishable gaps, swelling the population to 26,291.

As referred to above, the much smaller population than is normally referred to, is a
result of parts of Chorleywood east of the M25 being considered part of Rickmansworth,
which has been updated to take account of the parish boundary rather than the M25,
built long after the dwellings that are on the eastern side of it.

Subsequently, Rickmansworth supports the settlements in close proximity to the town
and vice versa. The Very Good accessibility score is a result of the settlement
benefitting from all eight of the facilities/services measured, a train station and
reasonably good bus service.

Small Towns/Large Suburban Settlements

Chorleywood

The settlement of Chorleywood has been updated to reflect the parish boundary map,
excluding individual settlements such as Loudwater and Heronsgate, that will be
assessed separately. Itis the largest settlement by area, characterised predominantly
by low density detached housing, with Chorleywood Golf Course and the M25
effectively dividing it into three. Services are concentrated towards the west, while the
eastern part of the settlement mainly relies on Rickmansworth for services and
sustainable transport options.

Chorleywood is served very well by facilities and has a railway station and good road
links, including a M25 junction. However, in terms of bus services, there are less than
you would expect of a settlement of this size, something that is often a symptomatic of
large areas of low-density development.

19
Page 87



South Oxhey

South Oxhey has the largest individual population by settlement definition in the district
(although it is contiguous with Watford to the east). While not the largest in area, South
Oxhey is the most densely populated part of the district. It sits between Pinner (London
Borough of Harrow) and Watford, with a small amount of open space between both.

Originally developed predominantly as a post-war council estate, significant areas had
become run-down by the 2000’s and it has been subject to large-scale regeneration,
with a high proportion of flatted development increasing the density further.

South Oxhey’s Very Good score is reflective of having all services (aside from a
secondary school), its train station and bus links.

Abbots Langley

Abbots Langley is the third largest distinct settlement in the district in terms of
population. Itis situated on the north-western edge of Watford, but has its own High
Street and retains a level of separation in terms of character and form. The settlements
of Abbots Langley and Watford connect on the eastern and western edges, mainly with
parkland between the remainder of the settlement boundary.

Abbots Langley is a relatively sustainable settlement and well served by major facilities
and services, with only the secondary school and train station being located outside of
the settlement. The secondary school is within the upper threshold distance and Kings
Langley train station inis just outside of threshold distance.

Croxley Green

Croxley Green is situated between Rickmansworth and Watford and very close to both,
with only the River Chess separating it from Rickmansworth and the Grand Union Canal
and River Gade separating it from Watford, subsequently maintaining good transport
links to both settlements. Within the district it is the second most densely populated
area and the fourth largest settlement in terms of population.

Croxley Green is excellently served from a facilities and sustainable transport
perspective, with all identified facilities/services being available within the settlement
boundary and benefitting from its position between Watford and Rickmansworth, with 5
(at least) hourly services and a railway station with services into London every 15
minutes.

20
Page 88



Large Villages/Suburban Settlements

Eastbury

Eastbury sits on the southern boundary of Three Rivers and is predominantly a
residential area contiguous with Northwood in the London Borough of Hillingdon. The
area is largely characterised by low density detached housing.

The residential nature of the settlement with no defined neighbourhood centre means
that access to services is low for the size of settlement. There is only a primary school
and open spaces within the settlement out of the eight facilities/services measured.
There are two hourly bus services that serve the settlement. Northwood underground
station sits in the south-west corner of Eastbury, forming the boundary between
Eastbury and Moor Park, which boosts its sustainability score significantly.

Moor Park

Moor Park is also contiguous with Northwood (London Borough of Hillingdon) and sits
on the opposite side of the railway, forming its western boundary. It is similar in
character to Eastbury, but much of it is also a private estate built at even lower density.
It was built almost entirely as an expansion of London in the 1930’s. Moor Park is served
by its own tube station, the only TFL station inside a gated private estate.

The low sustainability rating in comparison to its population is symptomatic of its
character and reflects the residential nature of it. Aside from the tube station on site
which is highly positive in terms of sustainability, it only has 3 of the 8 measured
facilities/services within its boundary.

Carpenders Park

Carpenders Park was largely developed on the 1930’s as a private housing estate, with
council housing added post-war and accommodates a range of housing types.

Itis well served by facilities and transport for a settlement of its size. Only a Secondary
school and library are situated outside of the settlement, with Oxhey Library within the
upper threshold distance. There is an overground train station that runs into London
Euston and Watford Junction frequently.

21
Page 89



Kings Langley

Kings Langley is the only standalone settlement in the large villages. The vast majority of
the village is in Dacorum, with just over 10% of the population in Three Rivers, on the
eastern side of the River Gade and Grand Union Canal.

The village itself is well served by services, but the measurements to them have been
taken from the edge of the Three Rivers settlement boundary, so any facilities in the
village are measured from there, up to the upper threshold. This is because we can only
influence and account for development and policies within our boundary, so the
sustainability score is lower than if the entirety of the village was in our district. The
railway station is within Three Rivers boundary.

Leavesden and Garston

Leavesden and Garston sit on the northern edge of Watford. The area is characterised
by a mix of suburban residential development and a large commercial area, including
the expanding Warner Brothers studios. There is also new housing on the old
aerodrome site and the settlement boundary has been expanded to encompass these
features.

Contained within the area are 6 of 8 measured facilities/services, the exceptions being a
library and community centre. Given some of Leavesden and Garston is outside of the
district boundary, there may be closer services within the part of the settlement that
falls within Watford Borough, but there are difficulties with establishing exact
boundaries for these areas outside the district boundary, so they have not been
recorded. Typifying a well-connected suburb of a large town, there are many bus routes,
with 6 running at least hourly. There is also a train station in Garston.

Mill End

Mill End is situated to the west of Rickmansworth town. It was historically a separate
village but now adjoins the settlement. However, Mill End retains its own distinct
character, with its own neighbourhood centre and mix of dwelling types, including
terraced houses, not often encountered in Rickmansworth.

The settlement benefits from a wide range of bus services, given its location adjacent to
Rickmansworth. Within the settlement there are 5 of the 8 assessed facilities/services,
with two within the upper threshold distance. However, services that are unavailable in
Mill End itself, can be accessed in Rickmansworth by sustainable transport methods
such as by bus, cycling or walking.

22
Page 90



Maple Cross

Maple Cross is a large village in the south-west part of the district. Until after the
Second World War it was no more than a hamlet, before 800 council houses were built.

For its size, it has a good range of services, with 5 of the 8 measured facilities/services
within the settlement and one within the upper threshold distance. It also has a wide
range of bus services, benefitting from its location on the A412/Denham Way.

6: Conclusion

As facilities and service provision change over time, this study and the resulting
settlement hierarchy provides a broad indication of the current situation in terms of
settlement sustainability. The settlement hierarchy puts Rickmansworth, Croxley
Green, South Oxhey, Chorleywood and Leavesden and Garston, as the most
sustainable settlements in Three Rivers according to the level of access to key services
and facilities and the provision of public transport services.

Higher sustainability scores are largely driven by size of settlement, although there are
examples where this is not quite the case. For example, Abbots Langley, considered to
be a town, has scored lower than Carpenders Park (which has less than half the
population of Abbots Langley). This is largely down to sustainable transport and road
infrastructure. While Abbots Langley scores well on range of facilities/services, it does
not have a railway station, whereas Carpenders Park does. Additionally, the highest
level of road classification in Abbots Langley are ‘C’ roads, whereas there is an ‘A’ road
running through Carpenders Park.

There are other settlements, particularly in the south of the district, that are
characterised by better train links, but poorer access to services within the settlement.
Moor Park and Eastbury have access to train stations within the settlement but have
otherwise relatively poor access to a range of facilities/services, but the proximity to
stations pushes them up to ‘good’ and ‘fair’ respectively, in terms of their overall
sustainability score.

Carpenders Park and South Oxhey share a train stations on their borders (the railway
line divides the settlements) but their higher all-round scores elevate them to ‘Very
Good’ in terms of sustainability.

Rickmansworth, Chorleywood and Croxley Green are the only settlements that had all 8
of the measured services within their boundaries. They are considered to be principal or
small towns.

Settlements have been placed into sustainability categories, and settlement
boundaries have been fixed for this purpose, however, the boundaries given may not
relate to everyday life, particularly where settlements coalesce. This may affect how
sustainable settlements are in practice, as people utilise services in a variety of
settlements.

The access to key facilities/services and bus services are averaged over whole
settlements which may mask smaller scale areas within settlements with issues in

23
Page 91



accessing facilities, particularly areas on the periphery of larger settlement where
dwellings may be distanced from facilities generally located in settlement centres.
These factors mean that there may be variations in sustainability within settlements,
however, these variations are beyond the scope of this study and can be studied on a
smaller scale (i.e on a site-by-site basis), using this study as an initial guide.

The different facilities/services have not been weighted (in terms of importance) in order
to avoid subjectivity, as the relative importance of facilities will depend on individual
circumstances. If a weighting system were to be applied, itis likely the relationships
between settlements would alter, and the categories of sustainability could also
change.

Despite the limitations, the category of sustainability to which a settlement has been
placed provides an indication of the potential for growth. Where settlement
sustainability has been described as ‘poor’, there is limited potential for growth, though
minor development through small sites and infill may be appropriate.

Settlements with sustainability described as ‘fair’ or ‘good’ sustainability may
accommodate additional development, which may benefit the settlement through
reinforcing and maintaining the existing settlement role and maintaining or enhancing
the viability of facilities and services. Settlements within the ‘very good’ sustainability
category generally have the greatest potential for growth and significant development,
which can continue to improve existing levels of sustainability.

24
Page 92



	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Local Plan: Green Belt Review
	Appendix 1 - Green Belt Review 2025
	Three Rivers GBR Final Final Report_250925_COMPLETED.pdf
	Three Rivers GBR Final Final Report_250925_INTERIM.pdf
	Tables
	Figures
	Appendices
	1. Introduction
	1.1 Study Context
	1.2 Study Purposes
	1.3 Report Structure

	2. Policy, guidance and recent appeals
	2.1 Policy and guidance context
	2.2 Updated National Planning Policy Framework (2024)
	2.2.1 Exceptional circumstances
	2.2.2 Grey belt
	2.2.3 Sequential release of Green Belt land

	2.3 Updated Planning Practice Guidance (2025)
	2.3.1 Grey belt
	2.3.2 Assessing Green Belt to identify grey belt land
	2.3.3 Key steps to identify grey belt land
	2.3.4 GBR spatial scope4F
	2.3.5 Purpose assessment
	Large built-up areas, towns and villages
	To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas (purpose a)
	To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another (purpose b)
	To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns (purpose d)

	2.3.6 Application of footnote 7
	2.3.7 Assessing whether land is grey belt
	2.3.8 Assessing the impact of Green Belt release on the remaining Green Belt in the plan area
	2.3.9 Identifying sustainable locations

	2.4 Review of recent appeal decisions
	2.5 Implications for this study

	3. Local Green Belt context
	3.1 Three Rivers Green Belt
	3.2 Stage 1 GBR (2017)
	3.2.1 Study purpose
	3.2.2 Approach
	3.2.3 Green Belt purposes definitions and assessment criteria
	3.2.4 Washed over village assessment – approach

	3.3 Stage 2 GBA (2019)
	3.3.1 Study purpose
	3.3.2 Approach
	3.3.3 Green Belt purpose definitions and assessment criteria

	3.4 Stage 3 New Settlement Analysis (2020)
	3.4.1 Purpose
	3.4.2 Approach and key findings


	4. Review of previous studies
	4.1 National policy consistency
	4.2 Geographic scope
	4.3 Green Belt purposes
	4.3.1 NPPF Green Belt purposes
	4.3.2  Interpretation of purposes (a), (b) and (d)

	4.4 Definition of large built-up areas and towns
	Summary

	4.5 Grey belt identification
	4.6 Fundamentally undermine assessment
	4.7 Implications for this study

	5. Identification of new assessment areas
	5.1 Scope of task
	5.2 Evaluation of extent of previous assessments
	5.3 Evaluation of sites
	5.4 Evaluation of railway stations and motorway junctions
	5.5 Summary

	6. Provisional grey belt identification
	6.1 Scope of task
	6.2 Grey belt scores and findings
	6.3 Next steps

	7. Washed over villages commentary
	7.1 Scope of task
	7.2 Outcome of Stage 1 assessment
	7.3 Implications of policy and guidance
	7.4 Village commentary
	7.4.1 Heronsgate
	Recommendation

	7.4.2 Sarratt
	Recommendation

	7.4.3 Bedmond
	Recommendation



	8. Fundamentally important areas
	8.1 Scope of task
	8.2 Analysis
	8.3 Next steps on Fundamentally Undermine

	9. Conclusions and recommendations
	9.1 Green Belt Review
	9.2 Grey belt
	9.3 Washed over villages
	9.4 Fundamentally important areas

	Appendices
	A.1 Review of recent appeals
	A.1.1 Spatial and Visual Openness
	A.1.2 Definition of Sustainable Locations
	A.1.3 Grey Belt in unsustainable locations
	A.1.4 Definition of Towns and Sprawl
	A.1.5 Scale, granularity and proportionality of assessment parcels
	A.1.6 Footnote 7 land

	A.2 TRDC Stage 2 Parcels: Assessment Data Table

	20250925_Grey_Belt.pdf
	20250925_FU_map_onecolor_v3.pdf

	20250925_FU_map_onecolor_v4.pdf


	6 Local Plan: Draft Settlement Appraisal
	Appendix 1 -  Draft Three Rivers Settlement Appraisal




